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Introduction  

 
Note 
(N) 

 This Guideline is addressed to all issuers subject to the Directive on Ad hoc Publicity (DAH). The DAH applies to all issuers 
whose securities are listed on SIX Swiss Exchange AG (SIX) and whose registered offices are in Switzerland. Issuers 
whose registered offices are not in Switzerland fall within the socple of the DAH if their securities are listed on SIX but 
not in their home country. The DAH also applies to issuers whoes securties are listed on the SIX Digital Exchange (SDX) 
(in accordance with the reference of the Listing Rules of SIX Trading AG [LR SDX] which in particular declares that Art. 53 
and 54 of the Listing Rules of SIX Swiss Exchange AG apply by analogy [Titel III and appendix B of the KR SDX]).The 
Guideline assists issuers by providing practical information on their obligation to disclose price-sensitive facts pursuant 
to Art. 53 et seq. LR. It containes the wording of the DAH, takes into account the practices of the SIX judicial bodies on 
ad hoc publicity and includes recommendations on selected topics. Neither the Guideline as such nor the 
recommendations of SIX Exchange Regulation AG (SER) contained in the Guideline are legally binding. 

  

 Of the three language versions of the Guideline (German, French and English), the German version takes precedence.    

 References to decisions of the SIX judicial bodies as well as references to information from the Regulatory Board (RB) 
and the Issuers Committee (IC) are shown in italics for visual emphasis. The decisions of the SIX judicial bodies as well 
as the notices of the RB and the IC are available on the SER website. The diagrams in the appendix to the Guideline only 
serve as simplified illustrative examples and are not intended to be exhaustive. 
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Article 
DAH Article text Information Note 

(N) 

I. General provisions   

Art. 1 – Purpose 

Art. 1 This Directive details the 
information on the 
obligation of issuers to 
disclose price-sensitive facts 
(ad hoc publicity pursuant to 
Art. 53 LR). The purpose of 
ad hoc publicity is to ensure 
that issuers provide the 
public with true, clear and 
complete information on 
significant events arising in 
the course of their business 
activities. 

Disclosures of information on price-sensitive facts are referred to as ad hoc announcements. Only 
ad hoc announcements are subject to the rules on ad hoc publicity. Issuers must in particular address 
their ad hoc announcements to the public. The publication must be done in accordance with the rules 
on ad hoc publicity. The addresees of the information are all actual and potential market participants 
(see N 117 et seqq. below). 

  

 Concerning the requirements regarding truth, clarity and completeness of ad hoc announcements, 
please see the comments on Art. 15 DAH (see N 178 et seqq. below). 

  

 Issuers must take due account of the aims of transparency and equal opportunities for all market 
participants in their handling of information. The public has the right to a fair, i.e. timely and content-
adequate notification of price-relevant information (Case No. 6 of the practice regarding ad hoc 
publicity; Decision of the Committee of the Admission Board dated 23 March 2005 margin number 14 
[ZUL/AhP/IV/05], Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 2 August 2019 clause 3.2.2 [SaKo AhP-I/19], 
Art. 6 DAH [see N 117 below]). 

  

  The Committee of the Admission Board has established that the quality of an ad hoc announcement 
and its perception depends not only from its content, but in particular also from the source: If the 
source is a different medium, the quality of the communication is not the same as if the source is the 
company itself. First-hand information, i.e. from the issuer itself, is evaluated differently by the 
financial community than information obtained from the media. The disclosure of price-sensitive 
facts to a particular medium on the assumption that these facts will be reported and disseminated 
by other media does not reflect the intent and purpose of ad hoc publicity (Decision of the Committee 
of the Admission Board dated 1 November 2004 margin number 25 et seqq. [ZUL/AhP/II/04]). The 
disclosure of price-sensitive information to selected media or journalists is not considered to be 
public within the meaning of Art. 53 para. 3 LR (i.e. it does not constitute disclosure ensuring the 
equal treatment of market participants) and is not permissible (Decision of the Sanctions Commission 
dated 2 August 2019 margin number 24 with further references [SaKo AhP-I/19]). 
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Article 
DAH Article text Information Note 

(N) 

  In other words, the publication of price-sensitive information by third parties does not release issuers 
from the obligation to publish the corresponding information themselves with an ad hoc 
announcement. Information that an issuer publishes itself is generally considered to be more 
credible by market participants than corresponding reports from third parties. Investors therefore 
generally attach greater importance to ad hoc announcements made by the issuer. 

  

  In addition, third-party reports (e.g. media reports) are practically never addressed to exactly the 
same recipients as issuers’ ad hoc announcements (see Art. 7 et seqq. DAH). 

  

  The stock exchange provisions concerning the disclosure of shareholdings (Art. 120 FinMIA) must be 
observed independently of and in parallel to the rules on ad hoc publicity. This applies in particular 
to the different deadlines for reporting and publishing changes in the shareholder structure (see 
N 63 below). 

  

  Contractual agreements generally do not release issuers from their obligation to publish an ad hoc 
announcement. For example, an agreement between an issuer and another company stipulating 
that price-sensitive facts are to be treated as confidential is not in itself sufficient to justify a failure 
to disclose such facts. For example, the contractual obligation to keep the content of a contract for 
the construction of an industrial plant secret does not release the issuer from structuring the content 
of the ad hoc announcement in such a way that the market participant can get an idea of the effects 
that the conclusion of the contract may have on for example the earnings or the financial position of 
the company. 
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Article 
DAH Article text Information Note 

(N) 

Art. 2 – Scope of applicability 

Art. 2 
para. 1 

This Directive applies to all 
issuers whose securities are 
listed on SIX Swiss Exchange 
Ltd ("SIX Swiss Exchange") 
and whose registered offices 
are in Switzerland. 

This clause sets the scope of application of the DAH.   

Art. 2 
para. 2 

It also applies to issuers 
whose registered offices are 
not in Switzerland but whose 
securities are listed on the 
SIX Swiss Exchange and not 
in their home country. 

The DAH is to be observed by issuers whose securities are listed on Six or SDX. The applicability of 
the DAH for other securities is governed by the Additional Rules and other legal sources: 

− Additional Rules Bonds (ARB) 
− Additional Rules Exchange Traded Products (ARETP) 
− Additional Rules Derivatives (ARD) 
− Swiss Federal Act on Collective Investment Schemes ([CISA]; e.g. investment fund; real estate 

fund; exchange traded fund; exchange traded structured fund). 
 
A secondary listing of securities on SDX and admission purely for trading are not permitted (art. 9 
para 3 LR SDX). Further equity securities of issuers not domiciled in Switzerland cannot be listed on 
the SDX (art. 9a para 3 LR SDX). 
 
If an issuer with dual listing has listed equity securities on SIX as their primary listing, the 
requirements for maintaining the listing on SIX and SDX are deemed to have been satisfied when the 
issuer has complied with these requirements for the primary listing (Title III of the LR SDX). This does 
not apply to the requirements concerning the Regular Reporting Obligations. 
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  With regard to the conflict of law rules, the DAH states that for Companies with securities listed on 
SIX whose registred office is not in Switzerland the DAH is only applicalble if the company ist not 
listed in its home country. The home country is determined under Swiss law. If companies that do 
not have their registered office in Switzerland have a listing on SIX and on another exchange outside 
their home country (and no listing on an exchange in their home country), the DAH nevertheless 
applies. The DAH always applies to companies that have their registered office in Switzerland and 
securities listed on SIX, regardless of any listing in another country. 

  

  Companies whose securities are listed on an exchange in their home country are not subject to the 
provisions of the DAH, even if the securities listed on the home exchange are not the same as those 
listed on SIX. These issuers are partly subject to Art. 21 DFC. 

  

  Examples:   

  − A South African company without registered seat in Switzerland has shares listed on SIX. Its 
shares are also listed in New York (US), but not in its home country of South Africa: the DAH 
applies. 

  

  − A company under Swiss law with registered seat in Switzerland has shares listed on SIX and 
in London (UK). Under Uk law the company’s management is seated in London: the DAH 
applies. 

  

  − A company with registered seat in Switzerland has only bonds (debt claims) listed on SIX: the 
DAH applies. 

  

  − A company with registered seat in Spain has shares listed on the Madrid exchange and bonds 
listed on SIX: the DAH does not apply. 

  

  − A company with registered seat in Paris (France) has bonds listed on its home exchange and 
shares listed on SIX: the DAH does not apply. 
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Article 
DAH Article text Information Note 

(N) 

II. Price-sensitive facts  

Art. 3 – Requirement to disclose price-sensitive facts 

Art. 3 The disclosure requirement 
applies to ad hoc announce-
ments pursuant to Art. 53 
LR. 

The obligation to disclose price-sensitive facts is now comprehensively set out in Art. 53 LR. Art. 53 
LR reads as follows: 
1 The issuer must inform the market of any price-sensitive facts which have arisen in its sphere of 
activity. Price-sensitive facts are facts whose disclosure is capable of triggering a significant change 
in market prices. A price change is significant if it is considerably greater than the usual price 
fluctuations. 
1bis The disclosure of the price-sensitive fact must be capable of affecting the reasonable market 
participant in his investment decision. 
2 The issuer must provide notification as soon as it becomes aware of the main points of the price-
sensitive fact. 
2bis The disclosure of information on price-sensitive facts must begin with a classification as “Ad hoc 
announcement pursuant to Art. 53 LR”. 
3 Disclosure of ad hoc announcements must be made so as to ensure the equal treatment of all 
market participants. 

  

  The individual key elements of Art. 53 LR are addressed in the following paragraphs: 
− Price-sensitive fact (in particular N 30 et seqq. below) 
− Issuer’s sphere of activity (in particular N 42 et seqq. below) 
− Reasonable market participant (in particular Art. 15 para. 1 DAH, N 176 et seq. below) 
− Main points (in particular Art. 5 DAH, N 102 et seqq. below) 
− Flagging obligation (in particular N 27 et seq., N 147 et seqq., N 184 below) 
− Principle of equal treatment (in particular Art. 6 DAH, N 116 et seqq. below) 
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  As of 1 July 2021, the RB revised individual provisions in the area of ad hoc publicity and formally 
amended the term of price sensitivity (Regulatory Board Communiqué No. 3/2021 of 30 April 2021). The 
term “price-sensitive fact” is now used instead of “potentially price-sensitive fact”. The adjustment is 
of linguistic nature only and does not result in any legal changes. Price-sensitive facts are facts whose 
disclosure is capable of triggering a significant change in market prices (Art. 53 para. 1 LR). A price 
change is significant if it is considerably greater than the usual price fluctuations. Apart from annual 
and interim reports pursuant to Art. 49 and Art. 50 LR, which must always be published with an 
ad hoc announcement pursuant to Art. 53 LR, there are no facts whose disclosure must always be 
classified as price-sensitive (N 89 et seqq. below). 

  

  By circular letter the IC explained the amendments and new features introduced by the revision 
(Issuers Committee Circular No. 1 of 30 April 2021 [IC-C1]). 

  

  Because the amendment to Art. 53 para. 1 LR is not accompanied by a change in practice, the fact 
must, as it was before, be able to be price-sensitive from an “ex ante” perspective: the valution 
whether the disclosure of the fact is capable of triggering a significant change in market prices must 
be decided on a case-by-case basis prior to the disclosure of the fact (Art. 4 para. 2 DAH; see N 89 
below). 

  

  Since 1 July 2021, the disclosure of information on price-sensitive facts must begin with the 
classification “Ad hoc announcement pursuant to Art. 53 LR” (“flagging”, cf. Art. 53 para. 2bis LR) 
(German: “Ad hoc-Mitteilung gemäss Art. 53 KR”, French: “annonce événementielle au sens de l’art. 
53 RC”). The RB has not specified how this flagging is to be carried out in concrete terms (i.e. visually). 
This is at the discretion of the issuer. The flagging must however be clearly recognisable as such 
(Issuers Committee Circular No. 1 of 30 April 2021 [IC-C1]). The flagging obligation applies irrespective 
of the format and mode of distribution of the ad hoc annoucement. All adressees set out in Art. 7 et 
seqq. DAH have to be served with the identical ad hoc annoucment. According to Art. 9 DAH the 
identical ad hoc annoucement has also to be uploaded to the issuer’s webseite on the directory for 
ad hoc announcements. If, for example, issuers operate in cross-border markets, have an 
international investor base or are listed on several stock exchanges, it is permissible to complement 
the flagging provided for in the LR with a reference to the Swiss stock exchange SIX or SDX– SIX Swiss 
Exchange or SIX Digital Exchange. 
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  If the e-mail used to transmit the ad hoc announcement contains the full ad hoc announcement in 
text form, the text and ad hoc announcement must be flagged when introduced as “Ad hoc 
announcement pursuant to Art. 53 LR”. This also applies if the ad hoc announcement was additionally 
added to the e-mail as an attachment (PDF) and the document (PDF) contains the “Ad hoc 
announcement pursuant to Art. 53 LR” flagging. 
If the e-mail does not contain the full ad hoc announcement in text form, but a summary or reference 
to the attachment, the e-mail does not have to be flagged as “Ad hoc announcement pursuant to 
Art. 53 LR”, provided the ad hoc announcement was added to the e-mail as an attachment (PDF) and 
the document contains the “Ad hoc announcement pursuant to Art. 53 LR” flagging. 

  

  There are no generally binding thresholds or percentages that are defined to be significant if the 
they were reached exceeded or fallen below (Issuers Committee Circular No. 1 of 30 April 2021 [IC-C1]; 
N 97 below). For example, statements on a particular point in the annual report may be qualified as 
price-sensitive for one bank but not for another bank (Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 
28 October 2010 E. 3.2 et seqq., E. 8 [SaKo 2010-CG-III/10, SaKo 2010-AhP-I/10]). Possible examples of 
ad hoc announcements can be found in N 59 et seqq. below. 

  

  In connection with the concept of price-sensitive facts mentioned in Art. 53 LR, the following 
information should be noted in particular: 

  

  An event or a situation in the present or past which can be proven is deemed to be a fact (Decision of 
the Committee of the Admission Board dated 1 November 2004 margin number 16 [ZUL/AhP/II/04]). 

  

  Mere rumours, third-party earnings estimates, ideas, planning options and intentions of the issuer 
generally do not fall under the scope of ad hoc publicity (see Decision of the SIX Swiss Exchange Board 
of Arbitration in respect of the Decision SaKo-2014 AhP-I/14 dated 22 March 2016 margin number 101; 
Decisions of the Disciplinary Commission dated 15 May 2002 clause 2.1 [DK/AhP/I/02] and dated 30 July 
2004 margin number 12 [DK/AhP/I/04]; Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 15 December 2009 
margin number 4 [SaKo 2009-AhP I/09]). Further guidance on dealing with rumours can be found in 
N 35 et seqq. below. For further details regarding the distinction between facts and rumours, see 
N 82, 220 and 227 below. 
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  The decision by an issuer’s executive board to pursue a specific strategy – in contrast to simple ideas 
and planning options – qualifies as a fact because it sets a binding target to be followed by the issuer 
(Decision of the SIX Swiss Exchange Board of Arbitration in respect of the Decision SaKo-2014-AhP-I/14 
dated 22 March 2016 margin number 101 et seqq., margin number 114 et seq., Decision of the Disciplinary 
Commission dated 15 May 2002 clause 2.1 [DK/AhP/I/02], see also Decision of the Sanctions Commission 
dated 2 August 2019 margin number 21 [SaKo AhP-I/19]). 

  

  As a rule intentions do not have to be disclosed through an ad hoc announcement. However, there 
may not always be a clear dividing line between a simple intention and a plan or decision of the 
issuer. For example, if the board of directors decides to sell several key properties for a price well 
above their market value or as a result of a change in strategy but makes the sale contingent on a 
preliminary decision by the tax authorities, it can no longer be seen as a simple intention because 
the implementation of the decision only rests on an external event (in legal terms, the decision is 
resolutive or subject to a suspensive condition). 

  

  Issuers generally do not have to respond to market rumours with an ad hoc announcement. It would 
significantly reduce the value of ad hoc publicity if issuers had to respond with an ad announcement 
to rumors or mere queries asking whether they are complying with their contractual obligations 
(especially if formulated in a suggestive way) (Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 15 December 
2009 margin number 4 [SaKo 2009-AhP I/09]). 

  

  SER recommends the following in connection with voluntary responses to rumours: If the issuer 
decides to respond to a rumour or query even though it does not have to do so under the applicable 
rules, and if the facts in question (e.g. compliance with contracts in due time) are capable to have a 
significant influence on market prices, the voluntary response to the rumour must be made in the 
form of an ad hoc announcement and in accordance with the rules on ad hoc publicity. In this way it 
is possible to ensure that market participants are informed equally. 
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  Guidance based solely on expectations or hopes are not to be regarded as facts. However, guidances 
may qualify as facts if they are largely based on other facts. For the individual assessement various 
factors need to be considered, like the time when the guidance is made, the position in the company 
of the person making the guidance as well as the risk of the guidance and probability of the guidance. 
The more a guidance is based on objectively ascertainable facts and the lower the proportion of 
assumptions and projections, the lower the guidance risk (Decision of the Committee of the Admission 
Board dated 1 November 2004 margin number 16 [ZUL/AhP/II/04], Decision of the Disciplinary Commission 
dated 18 June 2007 [DK/AhP/III/06]). 

  

  In particular, guidance or estimates based mainly on facts are to be regarded as facts within the 
meaning of ad hoc publicity (Decision of the Disciplinary Commission dated 18 June 2007 margin 
number 3 [DK/AhP/III/06], see also Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 14 April 2015 margin 
number 10 et seq. [SaKo 2015-AhP-I/15]). 

  

  The issuer is responsible for the timely and correct fulfilment of its duty to inform about the price-
sensitive fact once it emerged. The issuer makes its decision using its discretion, taking into account 
the company’s internal division of responsibilities (Art. 4 para. 3 DAH). The company’s internal 
division of responsibilities must be based on corporate law documents, in particular the articles of 
association, rules of organisation, schedule of competences and so forth. In terms of timing, the 
issuers have to organize themselves in such a way that prompt fulfillment of their obligation to 
inform is always guaranteed (Issuers Committee Circular No. 1 of 30 April 2021 [IC-C1]). 

  

  Entrepreneurial development and decision-making processes usually go through several stages 
before they are finally implemented. The issuer makes its decision concerning the price sensitivity of 
the fact using its discretion, taking into account the company’s internal division of responsibilities 
(Art. 4 para. 3 DAH). As a rule, however, issuers may not wait to publish an ad hoc announcement 
until they know all the details of a fact (Decision of the Committee of the Admission Board dated 
4 September 2006 margin number 16 [ZUL/AhP/II/06], see also Decision of the Sanctions Commission 
dated 28 June 2012 margin number 30 [SaKo 2012-AhP/II/11], regarding the requirement for truth, 
clarity and completeness, see N 178 et seqq. below). 
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  In the case of complex events – especially in connection with company takeovers – SER recommends 
to inform the public in several stages with ad hoc announcements. A step by step publication strategy 
may also be appropriate in connection with capital increases. In certain circumstances, plans by one 
or more major investors to provide financial support must already be disclosed under the ad hoc 
publicity requirements before the contractual partners have agreed on all the details of the 
transaction. It is advisable to publish another ad hoc announcement once the contracts have been 
signed, etc., (regarding the permissibility of postponing disclosure, see N 192 et seqq. below and 
Appendix 4 of this Guideline). 

  

  Facts occurring in an issuer’s sphere of activity (see Art. 1 DAH):   

  A fact that affects an issuer but originates from outside the company is in principle not subjected to 
the rules on ad hoc publicity. However, if such an external event results in a price-sensitive fact within 
the issuer’s sphere of activity, the issuer must nevertheless publish an ad hoc announcement 
(Decision of the Committee of the Admission Board dated 4 September 2006 margin number 14 
[ZUL/AhP/II/06]. The Admission Board considers that the bankruptcy of a particularly important bussiness 
partner and depending on the circumstances the termination of contract by a business partner to be 
external events that may be subject to the rules on ad hoc publicity). 

  

  The following examples do normally fall outside the issuer’s sphere of activity and do therefore not 
fall within the scope of the rules on ad hoc-publicity: 
− General market data (economic policy or macroeconomic developments, exchange-rate 

fluctuations, foreign trade statistics, a trade embargo, etc.), 
− Publicly known developments affecting the overall market (e.g. a global pandemic) or sectors 

and industries in which an issuer operates (e.g. pharmaceutical industry, consumer and luxury 
goods manufacturing, insurance or banking, etc.), 

− The launch of a rival product and/or buy or sell recommendations from analysts, etc. 
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  In exceptional cases, facts not arising in the issuer’s sphere of activity may fall within the scope of the 
rules on ad hoc publicity if they have a direct effect on the issuer’s internal operations. Examples of 
such facts include decisions by an antitrust or supervisory authority (e.g. concerning the approval of 
a new drug) or a court, the termination of an important contract by a key business partner and the 
bankruptcy of such a partner or the need for financial restructuring (see also Decision of the Committee 
of the Admission Board dated 4 September 2006 margin number 14 [ZUL/AhP/II/06]). 

  

  In the case of major court cases, SER recommends to inform the market by means of ad hoc 
announcements once the case have been filed or the proceedings are known as well as when the 
judgment is known. 

  

  In the case of takeovers, the listed target company must examine whether the takeover offer is price-
sensitive. 

  

  Under certain circumstances, ad hoc announcements must also be published by the listed target 
company if the offeror has published a press release about an important interim event regarding the 
takeover bid. In particular, the publication of an ad hoc announcement must always be examined if 
the board of directors of the target company sets out its position on the public offer in connection 
with a takeover bid and publishes the associated report (Art. 132 para. 1 FinMIA). If the offeror is a 
listed company it has to examine in each case whether the takeover or the interim event is price-
sensitive for it. In this case, an ad hoc announcement must be published. 

  

  Regarding the relationship between the disclosure obligations under takeover law and the rules on 
ad hoc publicity, see N 10 above. For more information regarding takeovers, see also N 85 et seq. 
below. 
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  A change in the ownership structure or in the pool of shareholders may also be price-sensitive. It 
must be examined in each individual case if the change affects the controlling interests, the majority 
of voting rights at the AGM or the exercise of certain shareholders’ rights (in particular, if the 
thresholds of 33⅓ %, 50 % and/or 66⅔ % are reached and/or exceeded, influence may be exerted on 
the issuer – obligation to submit a public purchase offer; blocking minority under company law – 
absolute or relative majority for important resolutions). A well-known investor “joining” or “leaving” 
or a significant change in such an investor’s holding may be price-sensitive (see Sanction Notice by SIX 
Exchange Regulation dated 11 October 2013 margin number 16 et seqq. [SER-AhP-I/13], see also N 63 
below). 

  

  Fact that is not of public knowledge:   

  A fact does not qualify as public knowledge just because third parties, such as certain media or 
analysts, e.g., have reported on it. The fact that an article reports on a price-sensitive fact concerning 
the issuer does not release the latter from the obligation to publish a corresponding ad hoc 
announcement: investors attach more importance to original statements of the company than to 
reports of third parties (see Decision of the Disciplinary Commission dated 22 July 2002 margin note 11 
[DK/AhP/II/02], see also N 7 et seqq. above). 

  

  If a fact has essentially already been published with an ad hoc announcement, any details relating to 
it are usually no longer price-sensitive. The SaKo deemed further information relating to previously 
announced job cuts as details of these cuts and therefore held that the further information were not 
price-sensitive (Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 15 December 2009 margin number 8 et seq. 
[SaKo 2009-AhP I/09]). 

  

  The voluntary publication of financial figures (“key figures”) before the publication of the annual or 
iterim report is permissible, however it does not negate the price sensitivity of the annual and interim 
reports pursuant to Art. 49 and Art. 50 LR or rather these reports are always to be published with an 
ad hoc announcement pursuant to Art. 53 LR (Art. 4 para. 2 DAH) (N 89 et seqq. below). 
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  Fact capable of having a significant influence on the price (price sensitivity):   

  Whether or not the disclosure of a fact is capable of triggering a significant change in market prices 
must be decided on a case-by-case basis prior to disclosure or announcement (Art. 4 para. 2 DAH; 
N 89 and 97 below). 

  

  Apart from annual and interim reports pursuant to Art. 49 and Art. 50 LR, which must always be 
published with an ad hoc announcement pursuant to Art. 53 LR, there are no facts whose disclosure 
must always be classified as price-sensitive (Art. 4 para. 2 DAH; N 89 below). 

  

  The capability of triggering a significant change in the price is sufficient. An “ex ante” perspective 
applies. It is not necessary that an actual change in price occurs (rise or fall; Sanction Notice by SIX 
Exchange Regulation dated 27 January 2021 margin number 44 [SER-AhP-I/21/MP-I/21], Sanction Notice 
by SIX Exchange Regulation dated 11 October 2013 margin number 24 with further references [SER-AhP-
I/13], Decision of the Committee of the Admission Board dated 23 January 2007 margin number 9 
[ZUL/AhP/IV/06], Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 30 July 2007 margin number 11 
[SaKo/AhP/I/07], see also Appendix 3 of this Guideline). 

  

  Examples that may be capable of triggering a significant change in market prices in individual 
cases: 

  

  − Structural changes: Mergers, acquisitions (e.g. report by the board of directors in 
accordance with Art. 132 para. 1 FinMIA; regarding acquisitions see also N 47 et seqq. above), 
spin-offs, asset transfers, restructuring (regarding mergers, see Decision of the Sanctions 
Commission dated 2 August 2019 margin number 17 et seqq., margin number 26, margin 
number 32 [SaKo AhP-I/19], regarding restructuring, see Case No. 5 of the practice regarding 
ad hoc publicity). 
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  − The commencement of negotiation regarding a possible takeover may be sufficient on its 
own to constitute a price-sensitive fact, although a postponement of disclosure is permissible 
under the applicable requirements and thus – subject to the maintenance of confidentiality 
and the obligation to publish in the event of a leak – it is possible to refrain from publishing 
the takeover negotiations or to postpone the publication of the ad hoc announcement 
(unpublished decision of the Committee of the Admission Board dated 31 May 2001; see Rolf 
H. Weber, Praxis der SWX Swiss Exchange zur Ad hoc-Publizität, SZW 2002, p. 297 et seqq., 
p. 298). 

  

  − Changes in capital: Capital increase or decrease, share buyback programme, change in the 
nature of participation rights (e.g. conversion of participation certificates into shares), etc. 

  

  Significant shifts in the shareholder structure: The disclosure of shareholdings under Art. 120 et 
seqq. FinMIA does not prevail over the rules on ad hoc publicity (N 10 above). A significant shift in 
the shareholder structure may therefore be a price-sensitive fact in some cases, for example if there 
are shifts concerning key shareholders that have a substantial influence on the company’s decision-
making. According to the jurisprudence of the SaKo, the company must publish an ad hoc 
announcement as soon as it becomes aware of the purchase or sale of the partecipation (Decision of 
the Sanctions Commission dated 19 November 2007 margin number 6 [SaKo/AhP/III/07], see also Sanction 
Notice by SIX Exchange Regulation dated 11 October 2013 margin number 16 et seqq. [SER-AhP-I/13]). The 
stock exchange provisions concerning the disclosure of shareholdings must be observed 
independently of and in parallel to the rules on ad hoc publicity. This applies in particular to the 
different deadlines for reporting and publishing changes in the shareholder structure. 
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  Staff changes: Staff changes within the company, in particular in the board of directors and/or 
executive board, may constitute a price-sensitive fact. However, contrary to previous decision and in 
accordance with the new legal basis set out in Art. 4 para. 2 DAH, a staff change no longer constitutes 
a per se price-sensitive fact subject to the ad hoc publicity obligation. With the revision of the 
regulations effective from 1 July 2021, Art. 4 para. 2 DAH sets out the principle by which – apart from 
the annual and interim reports in accordance with Art. 49 and 50 LR – there are no facts whose 
disclosure must always be classified as price-sensitive. In other words, the previous view that every 
staff change in the board of directors and/or executive board per se constituted a price-sensitive fact 
has been abandoned. However, the issuer remains obligated to determine the capability of the fact 
to trigger a significant change in price on a case by case basis prior to announcing the staff change. 
In some cases, staff changes in the board of directors and/or executive board as well as in other key 
positions of the company (e.g. the Chief Scientific Officer of an issuer active in the field of research 
and development) may be price-sensitive. If the issuer deems that the change of external auditor 
constitutes a price-sensitive fact, this fact must be disclosed by means of an ad hoc announcement 
(cf. the delayed publication of the resignation of the chairman of the board of directors and the CFO; 
Sanction Notice by SIX Exchange Regulation dated 27 January 2021 margin number 49 et seq, [SER-AhP-
I/21/MP-I/21]). 

  

  Changes in business operations: New sales partners or strategic alliances, new and significant 
products, the withdrawal or recall of a significant product, significant contracts being signed or 
terminated, etc. 

  

  Changes in business performance (N 77 et seqq. below): Substantial changes in profit (profit hike 
or profit collapse), discontinuation of dividends, profit warning or financial restructuring (regarding 
profit warnings: Case No. 2 of the practice regarding ad hoc publicity and Decision of the Disciplinary 
Commission dated 30 March 2003 margin number 3 [DK/AhP/I/03], Decision of the Sanctions Commission 
dated 30 November 2010 margin number 6 et seqq., margin number 20 et seqq. [SaKo 2010-AhP-II/10, 
SaKo 2010-CG-IV/10], regarding profit collapse: Case No. 4 of the practice regarding ad hoc publicity). 
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  Substantial reduction in liquid funds: A significant fall in liquid funds may also be price-sensitive. 
For example, the SaKo ruled that, in the case of a company with very little liquid funds left, the sharp 
decrease of the liquid funds should have been disclosed in accordance with the rules on ad hoc 
publicity (Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 25 March 2009 margin number 7 et seqq. [SaKo-
RLE II/08, SaKo-AhP I/08]). 

  

  Financial reports (annual and interim reports): Annual and interim reports pursuant to Art. 49 and 
Art. 50 LR must always be published with an ad hoc announcement pursuant to Art. 53 LR, since their 
disclosure is always classified as price-sensitive (Art. 4 para. 2 DAH). Since the content of annual and 
interim reports generates great attention and is of importance for the market, it is justified the 
disclosure thereof always (or per se) has to be done in compliance with the requirements of the rules 
on ad hoc publicity (Issuers Committee Circular No. 1 of 30 April 2021 [IC-C1]). The price sensitivity of an 
annual or interim report does not cease to exist if the corresponding information has already been 
published in accordance with the regulations on ad hoc publicity. 
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  − Financial figures: This includes annual and interim results, quarterly results and key financial 
figures in general (for example revenues, profits, EBIT, EBITA, cash flow, reporting by 
segment, etc.). Depending on the issuer’s activities and the respective industry, different 
financial figures will be of importance. In practice, financial figures are often published 
voluntarily before the publication of the financial reports (annual and interim reports, N 68 
above) and are generally to be considered price-sensitive according to SaKo (see also Decision 
of the Committee of the Admission Board dated 1 November 2004 margin number 12 
[ZUL/AhP/III/04], Decision of the Committee of the Admission Board dated 7 January 2005 margin 
number 13 et seq. [ZUL/AhP/IV/04], Decision of the Committee of the Admission Board dated 
23 March 2005 margin number 11 et seqq. [ZUL/AhP/I/05], Decision of the Committee of the 
Admission Board dated 23 March 2005 margin number 9 et seqq. [ZUL/AhP/IV/05], Decision of the 
Committee of the Admission Board dated 23 January 2007 margin number 6 et seqq., margin 
number 15 [ZUL/AhP/IV/06], Decision of the Disciplinary Commission dated 24 March 2005 margin 
number 2 et seq. [DK/AhP/I/05], Decision of the Disciplinary Commission dated 18 June 2007 
margin number 8 [DK/AhP/III/06], Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 30 July 2007 
margin number 2 [SaKo/AhP/II/07], Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 25 March 2009 
margin number 6 [SaKo-RLE II/08, SaKo-AhP I/08], Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 
26 November 2009 margin number 18 [SaKo 2009-AhP II/09] and Decision of the Sanctions 
Commission dated 28 October 2010 margin number 3.3 [SaKo 2010-CG-III/10, SaKo 2010-AhP-
I/10]). The advance publication of financial figures via an ad hoc announcement does not 
negate the price sensitivity of an annual or interim report (Art. 4 para. 2 DAH). 

  

  − Net asset value (NAV): Listed investment companies must publish the NAV figure 
(current/net asset value of securities) regularly, at least quarterly (Art. 73 LR). Publishing the 
NAV does not negate the price sensitivity of an annual or interim report (Decision of the 
Committee of the Admission Board dated 23 January 2007 margin number 21 et seqq. 
[ZUL/AhP/IV/06]; see also Art. 4 para. 2 DAH). 
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  − Resolutions of the annual general meeting (AGM): If vote against a price-sensitive 
proposal of the board of directors or if price-sensitive motions are highly controversial either 
prior to or during the AGM, the question whether to publish an ad hoc announcement arises. 
The board of directors losing a consultative vote may in exceptional cases also qualify as a 
price-sensitive fact. SER recommends that issuers holding a AGM during trading hours should 
contact SER in advance should there be indications or growing concerns that the 
shareholders might vote against a price-sensitive proposal of the board of directors. To 
contact SER in advance serves to discuss the necessity for a temporary suspension of trading 
during the AGM (regarding the procedure for the disclosure of price-sensitive facts during 
trading hours, see N 161 et seqq. below). 

  

  − Exercise of shareholders’ rights: In the event of extraordinary AGM (Art. 699 para. 2 CO), 
exercising the right to add items to the agenda (Art. 699 para. 3 CO) or requesting a special 
audit (Art. 697a et seq. CO), the issuer is obligated to examine the price sensitivity of these 
circumstances or facts and – depending on the assessment made – to comply with the ad hoc 
publicity requirements. 

  

  − Change in financial reporting standards: If the board of directors decides to change the 
applicable financial reporting standards (e.g. from IFRS to Swiss GAAP FER), the issuer must 
examine the possible price sensitivity of this fact. The change of the financial reporting 
standards can have an influence on the quality of the information disclosed in the financial 
reports, which may constitute important information for market participants (for SDX see 
Title I of the LR SDX). 

  

  − Information on the breakdown of risk exposures: If the risk exposures combined with the 
financial situation of the borrowers behind them could substantially influence the issuer’s 
economic situation, this may constitute a price-sensitive fact (Decision of the Sanctions 
Commission dated 26 November 2009 margin number 8 [SaKo 2009-AhP II/09]). 

  

  − New strategies: New strategies may be price-sensitive under certain circumstances (Decision 
of the Disciplinary Commission dated 15 May 2002 margin number 2.1 et seq. [DK/AhP/I/02]). 
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  − Job cuts: Large-scale job cuts may be price-sensitive (Case No. 6 of the practice regarding 
ad hoc publicity). 

  

  The following points must be taken into consideration in connection with changes in profit 
(profit warning, profit hike/profit collapse), takeovers and insolvency: 

  

  − Profit warning: A profit warning is an ad hoc announcement of an issuer stating that the 
expected profit or loss will not match the market expectations raised by the issuer. It is a 
“correction” of the issuer’s previous guidance. 

  

  An issuer must publish a profit warning if market participants’ expectations regarding its results have 
been raised by the issuer itself (own, voluntary statement, i.e. guidance) and if the issuer’s business 
figures are likely to differ notably from its previous guidance. The duty to correct its own guidance 
as soon as the issuer becomes aware of significant deviation from expectations also arises from the 
principle of good faith and fair dealing. It is immaterial whether a price change effectively occurs; the 
mere capability of being able to trigger a price change is sufficient (Decision of the Sanctions 
Commission dated 14 April 2015 margin number 10 [SaKo 2015-AhP-I/15]; according to the Decision of the 
Sanctions Commission dated 30 November 2010 margin number 7 [SaKo 2010-AhP-II/10, SaKo 2010-CG-
IV/10], an issuer must in principle always report a foreseeable drop in profits, which is the case if the profit 
achieved deviates significantly from the profit achieved in the previous year]). 

  

  The issuer makes its decision using its discretion, taking into account the company’s internal division 
of responsibilities (Art. 4 para. 3 DAH). In terms of timing, issuers must organise themselves in such 
a way that timely fulfilment of their obligations to provide information is always guaranteed (Issuers 
Committee Circular No. 1 of 30 April 2021 [IC-C1]). An issuer was sanctioned after failing to correct the 
profit guidance it had raised itself with an ad hoc announcement once there signs of deterioration 
of the company’s financial situation. (Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 14 April 2015 margin 
number 10 et seq. [SaKo 2015-AhP-I/15], Decision of the Disciplinary Commission dated 31 March 2003 
margin number 3 et seqq. [DK/AhP/I/03], Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 30 November 2010 
margin number 6 et seqq. [SaKo 2010-AhP-II/10, SaKo 2010-CG-IV/10], see also Case No. 2 of the practice 
regarding ad hoc publicity]). 
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  The issuer’s declaration that the media had provided an accurate view of its financial situation was 
not sufficient to release it from its obligation to publish an ad hoc announcement (Decision of the 
Committee of the Admission Board dated 1 November 2004 margin number 29 [ZUL/AhP/II/04], see also 
N 7 et seqq. above). 

  

  In principle, there is no obligation to publish a profit warning if the expectations were raised by third 
parties. However, it may nevertheless make sense in such a case to correct the rumours, subject to 
the provisions of Art. 53 LR (N 32 et seqq. above). It however remains to be examined is whether the 
prerequisites for a profit collapse and/or a profit hike are fulfilled (N 83 below). 

  

  − Profit collapse and/or profit hike: Issuers that have not published a guidance must observe 
the rules on a profit collapse and/or profit hike: If the expected profit/loss deviates 
significantly from the profit/loss achieved in the prior-year period, this constitutes a profit 
collapse in case of a negative deviation and, respectively, a profit hike in case of a positive 
deviation. If, however, an issuer has published prior guidance, it must observe the rules on 
profit warnings (see Case No. 4 of the practice regarding ad hoc publicity and Decision of the 
Sanctions Commission dated 30 November 2010 margin number 6 et seqq., margin number 20 
[SaKo 2010-AhP-II/10, SaKo-CG-IV/10]). A profit collapse and profit hike both require the 
publication of an ad hoc announcement. As regards the timing of the publication, the 
statements on profit warnings apply mutatis mutandis (see N 79 et seq. above). 
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  Profit warning 
− The issuer “corrects” its own pre-viously 

issued guidance regarding financial 
figures. 

− The expected figures are notably higher 
or lower than the previously issued 
guidance. 

− Time of publication: The issuer makes its 
decision using its discretion, taking into 
account the company’s internal division of 
responsibilities (Art. 4 para. 3 DAH). In 
terms of timing, issuers must organise 
themselves in such a way that timely ful-
filment of their obligations to provide in-
formation is always guaranteed (Issuers 
Committee Circular No. 1 of 30 April 2021 
[IC-C1]). 

Profit collapse/profit hike 
− The issuer has not issued guidance on 

financial figures. 
− The expected figures are signi-ficantly 

lower or higher than the one of the last 
year. The deviation must be bigger than 
in the case of a profit warning. 

− Time of publication: The issuer makes its 
decision using its discretion, taking into 
account the company’s internal division of 
responsibilities (Art. 4 para. 3 DAH). In 
terms of timing, issuers must organise 
themselves in such a way that timely ful-
filment of their obligations to provide in-
formation is always guaranteed (Issuers 
Committee Circular No. 1 of 30 April 2021 
[IC-C1]). 

  

  − Takeover (see N 47 et seqq. above): When an issuer with participation rights listed on SIX is 
taken over, the question as to whether an ad hoc announcement must be published may 
arise both for the offering company – insofar as it is subject to the ad hoc publicity obligations 
– and for the offeree company. For takeovers SER recommends to communicate in several 
stages (see N 115 below on the postponement of disclosure). A planned takeover – regardless 
of whether it is friendly or hostile – is likely to be regarded as a price-sensitive fact if the issuer 
is the offeree company. If the issuer becomes aware of a planned takeover, it is generally 
obligated to publish an ad hoc announcement (regarding the permissibility of postponing 
disclosure, see N 192 et seqq. below). If an issuer intends to acquire another company, the 
price sensitivity from its point of view depends on the specific circumstances (e.g. size and 
economic importance of the companies involved, purchase price, change in strategy in con-
nection with the acquisition, etc.). 

  



DAH Guideline 
Completely revised version as of 21 March 2022 
Art. 3 – Requirement to disclose price-sensitive facts 

 

 

  26/71 
 

Article 
DAH Article text Information Note 

(N) 

  In this regard, it must be noted that any notifications and publications requirements under the pro-
visions of takeover law do not in principle release the issuer from its obligation to publish one or 
more ad hoc announcements. Takeover law does not prevail over the rules on ad hoc publicity. This 
means, among other things, that an offeree company must publish ad hoc announcements regard-
ing new and price-sensitive facts relating to a takeover bid. Any publications by the offering company 
or the Takeover Board do not replace the publication of an ad hoc announcement by the offeree 
company. 

  

  Insolvency proceedings: Issuers are in principle subject to the rules on ad hoc publicity under 
Art. 53 LR as long as they are listed on SIX, regardless of any ongoing insolvency or bankruptcy pro-
ceedings. Depending on the form and progress of the insolvency proceedings, the obligation to ar-
range ad hoc announcements and publications may pass to the bankruptcy administrator. 
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Art. 4 – Relevance 

Art. 4 
para. 1 

(cancelled)    

Art. 4 
para. 2 

Whether or not the 
disclosure of a fact is capable 
of triggering a significant 
price change must be 
decided on a case-by-case 
basis prior to the disclosure 
or announcement. Apart 
from annual and interim 
reports pursuant to Art. 49 
and Art. 50 LR, which must 
always be published with an 
ad hoc announcement 
pursuant to Art. 53 LR, there 
are no facts whose 
disclosure must always be 
classified as price-sensitive. 

This article was revised together with Art. 53 LR with the revision of 1 July 2021 (regarding the rele-
vant amendments and additions, see the Issuers Committee Circular No. 1 of 30 April 2021 [IC-C1]). In 
assessing price sensitivity, there can be no schematic reference to fixed threshold values or percent-
ages, as many different factors may influence the price in each individual case (see Art. 3 DAH in 
conjunction with Art. 53 LR). It is sufficient that the information is capable of triggering a significant 
change in price. Since the amendment of Art. 53 para. 1 LR does not entail any change in practice, 
the fact in question must be considered, as previously, of a price-sensitive nature from an “ex ante” 
perspective (Issuers Committee Circular No. 1 of 30 April 2021 [IC-C1]). It is immaterial whether the pub-
lication of the price-sensitive information actually affects the price (Decision of the Disciplinary Com-
mission dated 15 May 2002 clause 2.2 [DK/AhP/I/02], Decision of the Committee of the Admission Board 
dated 1 November 2004 margin number 13 [ZUL/AhP/II/04], Decision of the Committee of the Admission 
Board dated 1 November 2004 margin number 13 [ZUL/AhP/III/04], Decision of the Committee of the Ad-
mission Board dated 7 January 2005 margin number 12 [ZUL/AhP/IV/04], Decision of the Committee of the 
Admission Board dated 23 March 2005 margin number 13 [ZUL/AhP/I/05], Decision of the Committee of 
the Admission Board dated 23 March 2005 margin number 11 [ZUL/AhP/IV/05], Decision of the Committee 
of the Admission Board dated 23 January 2007 margin number 9 [ZUL/AhP/IV/06] and Decision of the Sanc-
tions Commission dated 13 November 2007 margin number 5 [SaKo/AhP/IV/07]). 
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  Pursuant to Art. 49 LR, the issuer is obligated to publish an annual report. This comprises the audited 
annual financial statements, in accordance with the applicable financial reporting standard, as well 
as the corresponding audit report. The Regulatory Board may require that additional information be 
included in the annual report, namely details on the structure and function of corporate 
management and governance (see the Directive on Financial Reporting and the Directive Corporate 
Governance). 
Under Swiss law, an annual report contains the annual accounts (financial statements of the individ-
ual entity), comprising the balance sheet, the profit and loss account and the notes to the accounts 
(Art. 958 para. 2 CO). Listed companies must generally provide additional information in the notes as 
well as a cash flow statement and a management report. Information must also be provided on the 
remuneration of executive bodies as well as on significant shareholders and their shareholdings, if 
known. The annual report must contain a separate section for information on corporate governance 
(Art. 6 Directive Corporate Governance). In parallel to accounting procedures under Swiss law, listed 
companies must prepare financial statements in accordance with recognised standards. In the case 
of groups of companies, the consolidated financial statements and the statement of changes in eq-
uity must also be prepared in accordance with recognised standards. 

  

  Pursuant to Art. 50 LR, issuers of listed equity securities are obligated to publish semi-annual finan-
cial statements (see the Directive on Financial Reporting and the Directive Corporate Governance). 
The same accounting standards must be used for interim financial statements as for the annual fi-
nancial statements – the content is determined by the applicable accounting standards (Art. 9 Di-
rective on Financial Reporting). 

  

  According to Art. 50 LR quarterly financial statements are regarded as interim financial statements. 
They must be drawn up according to the same principles applying to semi-annual financial state-
ments. According to Art. 50 para. 2 LR, the publication of quarterly financial statements is voluntary. 
The publication has to be made in accordance with Art 4 para. 2 DAH. 

  

  Issuers listed on SIX whose preparation of an annual and interim report is not governed by Swiss law 
must publish information from these or comparable documents in accordance with the rules on 
ad hoc publicity. 
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  If the price does not change after the publication of an ad hoc announcement, this does not mean 
that the new fact was not price-sensitive. Vice versa, the fact that the price of a security rises or falls 
sharply after the publication of information which the issuer had qualified as not price-sensitive does 
not necessarily mean that the information constituted a price-sensitive fact. The assessment is al-
ways made “ex ante”, not “ex post”. It is not possible to predict the behaviour of market participants 
with absolute certainty (Decision of the Committee of the Admission Board dated 1 November 2004 mar-
gin number 20 [ZUL/AhP/II/04]). 

  

  The issuer is responsible for the timely and correct fulfilment of the duty to provide information once 
the price-sensitive facts emerge. As a rule, a fact is price-sensitive if a reasonable market participant 
would use it as the basis for an investment decision. 

  

  The following rule of thumb can be used as a guide: “Is this new fact that has not yet been published 
likely to influence a reasonable market participant’s decision to buy, sell or hold the security in ques-
tion because they believe the current market price does not sufficiently reflect the new fact?” 

  

  There are no simple, technical criteria, such as the extent of a price fluctuation or transaction vol-
umes, that can be used to assess how likely a fact is to have a substantial influence on the price 
(Decisions of the Committee of the Admission Board dated 1 November 2004 [ZUL/AhP/II/04] and dated 
7 January 2005 [ZUL/AhP/IV/04]). In other words, the circumstances of each case must be considered 
individually. To assess whether a price change is considerably greater than the usual price fluctua-
tions (Art. 53 LR), the current situation of the issuer, the environment in which it operates and other 
factors (such as the volatility of the share of the issuer and of the market as a whole) must be taken 
into consideration. 

  

  Annual and interim reports (incl. quarterly financial statements) pursuant to Art. 49 and Art. 50 LR 
are an exception to the case-by-case assessment of price sensitivity. These must always be published 
by means of an ad hoc announcement (Art. 4 para. 2 DAH). 
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Art. 4 
para. 3 

The issuer makes its decision 
using its discretion, taking 
into account the company’s 
internal division of responsi-
bilities. 

When assessing the price sensitivity, the issuer is granted a certain amount of discretion, as ad hoc 
publicity is strongly characterized by future oriented element. Annual and interim reports pursuant 
to Art. 49 and Art. 50 LR are an exception with regard to the granting of powers of discretion. These 
reports have always to be published with an ad hoc announcement pursuant to Art. 53 LR (see N 89 
et seqq. above). 
The issuer must decide whether a price-sensitive fact exists using its discretion, taking into account 
the company’s internal division of responsibilities (Art. 4 para. 3 DAH). The company’s internal divi-
sion of responsibilities must be based on the company’s legal documents, in particular the articles of 
association, rules of organisation, schedule of powers and so forth (Issuers Committee Circular No. 1 
of 30 April 2021 margin number 7 [IC-C1]). 

  

  In terms of timing, issuers must organise themselves in such a way that the timely fulfilment of their 
obligations to provide the information is always guaranteed (Issuers Committee Circular No. 1 of 
30 April 2021 margin number 7 [IC-C1]). 
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III. Disclosure modalities  

Art. 5 - Time of disclosure 

Art. 5 A price-sensitive fact within 
the meaning of Art. 53 LR 
must be disclosed by the 
issuer by means of an ad hoc 
announcement as soon as 
the issuer has knowledge of 
the main points (Art. 53 
para. 2 LR). 

The issuer has to publish the price-sensitive information as soon as it becomes aware of the main 
points of the price-sensitive fact (Art. 53 para. 2 LR). The issuer assesses price sensitivity using its 
discretion, taking into account the company’s internal division of responsibilities (see Art. 4 DAH, N 39 
above). In terms of timing, issuers must organise themselves in such a way that the timely fulfilment 
of their obligations to provide information is always guaranteed (Issuers Committee Circular No. 1 of 
30 April 2021 margin number 7 [IC-C1]). 

  

 The fact is known (Art. 53 para. 2 LR and Art. 5 DAH) when:   

 − the requisite knowledge is possessed within the executive management or by a non-execu-
tive director (Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 30 November 2010 margin number 6 
[SaKo 2010-AhP-II/10, SaKo 2010-CG-IV/10]) and 

  

  − one such person is aware of the main points.   

  For this purpose, the executive management includes not only members of the executive board and 
executive directors, but also other individuals who can exert a substantial influence on the issuer’s 
decision-making (de facto governing parties). 

  

  If, due to inadequate internal organisation, key people do not know things they should know, this 
may constitute a violation of Art. 53 LR because of organisational fault. 

  

  Issuers must organise themselves in such a way that price-sensitive facts can be disclosed to market 
participants in due time (Issuers Committee Circular No. 1 of 30 April 2021 margin number 7 [IC-C1], De-
cision of the Sanctions Commission dated 16 April 2009 margin number 14 [SaKo 2009–AhP/MP-II/08] and 
Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 18 December 2009 margin number 8 [SaKo 2009-MT III/09, 
SaKo 2009-MP I/09, SaKo-AhP III/09]). 

  



DAH Guideline 
Completely revised version as of 21 March 2022 
Art. 5 - Time of disclosure 

 

 

  32/71 
 

Article 
DAH Article text Information Note 

(N) 

  If a new member is elected to the board of directors, this has to be published with an ad hoc an-
nouncement (provided that the election is deemed to be a price-sensitive fact) not only after the AGM 
but as soon as the board of directors has decided on the nomination and the person in question has 
agreed to stand for election (Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 18 December 2009 margin 
number 6 et seq. [SaKo 2009-MT III/09, SaKo 2009-MP I/09, SaKo 2009-AhP III/09] and Sanction Notice by 
SIX Exchange Regulation dated 22 December 2010 margin number 28 [SER 2010-AhP-I/10, SER 2010-MP-
I/10]). 

  

  If a member of the executive board leaves the company or a new member joins, this must be dis-
closed (provided that the event is deemed to be a price-sensitive fact) when the employment contract 
is terminated (at the time the notice of termination is received or both parties sign an agreement) or, 
respectively, when a contract of employment is signed (Sanction Notice by SIX Exchange Regulation 
dated 22 December 2010 margin number 29 et seqq. [SER 2010-AhP-I/10, SER 2010-MP-I/10]). 

  

  If annual or interim results are available earlier than expected, these must be published, regardless 
of any previously announced publication date. 

  

  An issuer was sanctioned after publishing its half-year earnings just one day before the scheduled 
date of its half-year results presentation, since the board of directors had already been aware for 
some time that the figures were massively lower than in the prior-year period (Case No. 4 of the prac-
tice regarding ad hoc publicity). 

  

  Apart from the cases of a profit warning, profit collapse or profit hike (N 77 et seqq. above), financial 
figures are normally to be published once the report has been signed off by the relevant governing 
body. Issuers are granted a reasonable deadline – several days after sign-off – to publish the figures 
(Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 14 April 2015 margin number 11 et seqq. and margin num-
ber 17 [SaKo 2015/AhP/I/15]). 
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  If orderly and timely procedures are in place within a company, financial figures are normally to be 
published once the responsible governing body (under Swiss law: the board of directors) has signed 
them off (Decision of the Disciplinary Commission dated 30 July 2004 margin number 10 [DK/AhP/I/04]). 
Annual results are to be published as soon as the company is fully aware of the year-end figures 
(Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 30 July 2007 margin number 3 [SaKo/AhP/II/07]). Where sig-
nificant changes in profit have occurred, the statements under N 83 above apply notwithstanding. 

  

  If a staff change that qualifies as a price-sensitive fact (see N 64 above) is announced to the staff, this 
fact must be published in an ad hoc announcement at the latest when the staff are informed (Decision 
of the Sanctions Commission dated 30 July 2007 margin number 1 in conjunction with margin number 5 
[SaKo/AhP/I/07] and Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 31 January 2008 margin number 7 [SaKo-
AhP-VI/07]). 

  

  In the case of an event with complex effects, SER recommends communication in several stages. This 
can help to reduce the risk of information asymmetry (see N 41 and 85 above). The issuer may con-
sider the start of the situation (basic fact) as the first fact to be published. The second fact to be 
disclosed may then be the crystallisation or consequence of the first fact. It may be advisable to com-
municate the achievement of individual milestones or the failure to achieve these in phases. If an 
issuer has been allowed to postpone the disclosure of a fact (see N 192 et seqq. below), it must inform 
without delay if the price-sensitive fact leaks (see N 220 et seqq. below). 
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Art. 6 – Principle of equal treatment 

Art. 6 The public must be notified 
by means of an ad hoc 
announcement in order to 
ensure that all market 
participants have the same 
opportunity to become 
aware of price-sensitive 
facts. Selective notification of 
market participants consti-
tutes a violation of the 
principle of equal treatment. 

The obligation to ensure the equal treatment of all market participants is set down in Art. 53 para. 3 
LR.  

  

 Issuers must take due account of the aims of transparency and equal opportunities for all market 
participants in their handling of information. Listed companies have obligations not only toward their 
shareholders and employees, but also toward the public. The public has the right to be notified in 
accordance with the rules, i.e. quickly and adequately in terms of content. Market participants should 
be able to take note of price-sensitive information under the same conditions and at the same time 
(Case No. 6 of the practice regarding ad hoc publicity, Decision of the Committee of the Admission Board 
dated 1 November 2004 margin number 26 et seqq. [ZUL/AhP/II/04], Decision of the Committee of the Ad-
mission Board dated 7 January 2005 margin number 15 et seqq. [ZUL/AhP/IV/04] and Decision of the Com-
mittee of the Admission Board dated 23 March 2005 margin number 13 et seqq. [ZUL/AhP/IV/05]). 

  

  The forwarding of price-sensitive information to a restricted group of people during critical trading 
hours is not allowed, as it equals to a selective notification of market participants (Decision of the 
Sanctions Commission dated 19 November 2007 margin number 2 [SaKo/AhP/III/07] and Decision of the 
Sanctions Commission dated 26 November 2009 margin number 16 [SaKo 2009-AhP II/09]). This also ap-
plies to television journalists (Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 2 August 2019 margin num-
ber 45 [SaKo AhP-I-19]). 

  

  The groups listed below do not qualify as public within the meaning of Art. 53 para. 3 LR:   

  − Analysts (Case No. 2 of the practice regarding ad hoc publicity, Decision of the Disciplinary Com-
mission dated 15 May 2002 clause 2.3 [DK/AhP/I/02], Decision of the Disciplinary Commission 
dated 18 June 2007 margin number 1 [DK/AhP/III/06] and Decision of the Sanctions Commission 
dated 26 November 2009 margin number 16 [SaKo 2009-AhP II/09]), 
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  − Selected media (Case No. 1 of the practice regarding ad hoc publicity, Case No. 3 of the practice 
regarding ad hoc publicity, Case No. 7 of the practice regarding ad hoc publicity, Decision of the 
Disciplinary Commission dated 15 May 2002 clause 2.3 [DK/AhP/I/02], Decision of the Disciplinary 
Commission dated 24 March 2005 margin number 3 [DK/AhP/I/05], Decision of the Committee of 
the Admission Board dated 1 November 2004 margin number 17 [ZUL/AhP/III/04], Decision of the 
Committee of the Admission Board dated 23 March 2005 margin number 15 et seq. [ZUL/AhP/I/05], 
Decision of the Committee of the Admission Board dated 23 March 2005 margin number 15 
[ZUL/AhP/IV/05] and Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 30 July 2007 margin number 4 
[SaKo/AhP/II/07]), 

  

  − Staff (Decision of the Disciplinary Commission dated 22 July 2002 margin number 3 et seq. 
[DK/AhP/II/02] and Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 30 July 2007 margin number 1 in 
conjunction with margin number 5 [SaKo/AhP/I/07]), 

  

  − Shareholders (Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 18 December 2009 margin number 5 
et seqq. [SaKo 2009-MT III/09, SaKo 2009-MP I/09, SaKo 2009-AhP III/09]), or 

  

  − Business partners and investors (Case No. 6 of the practice regarding ad hoc publicity and 
Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 26 November 2009 margin number 24 et seqq. [SaKo 
2009-AhP II/09]).  

  

  In connection with the issuance of new securities and the rules of the US Securities and Exchange 
Commission (SEC) concerning the ban on informing US residents of offers that are not registered 
with the SEC (ban on general solicitation or advertising), the following must be borne in mind: 

  

  Ad hoc announcements must be accessible to all market participants, regardless of their domicile. 
However, a disclaimer reflecting that the media release is an ad hoc announcement and does not 
represent an offer for the acquisition of securities is permissible. In contrast, restrictions on accessi-
bility for certain market participants (e.g. the use of an electronic gatepost [“country filter”]) or not 
sending ad hoc announcements to certain market participants (push and pull services, Art. 7 et seq. 
DAH) constitute violations of the obligation to ensure equal treatment. 
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  Ad hoc announcements must in principle be provided to all prescribed recipients at the same time 
(see Art. 10 DAH). This means that it is not permissible to send an ad hoc announcement to a (print) 
medium earlier than to other market participants. Providing a blocking period for the ad hoc an-
nouncement does not change this. Having a blocking period does not ensure the equal treatment of 
market participants (Case No. 3 of the practice regarding ad hoc publicity, Decision of the Committee of 
the Admission Board dated 1 November 2004 margin number 25 et seqq. [ZUL/AhP/II/04] and Decision of 
the Committee of the Admission Board dated margin number 15 et seqq.. [ZUL/AhP/III/04]). 

  

  All market participants must have the same opportunity to take note of a price-sensitive fact (Decision 
of the Committee of the Admission Board dated 23 March 2005 margin number 15 [ZUL/AhP/IV/05] and 
Art. 7 DAH). 

  

  If new price-sensitive facts are to be communicated during a media conference, analyst conference, 
conference call, web conference or a AGM or during similar events held during trading hours, at least 
a summary of the key information must be published at the same time, at the latest, in accordance 
with the rules on ad hoc publicity. 

  

  If an issuer accidentally passes on price-sensitive facts, e.g. during an interview (such as a live inter-
view or an interview conducted as part of a AGM), the issuer must publish this information without 
delay in accordance with the rules on ad hoc publicity. The equal treatment of market participants 
must be ensured (regarding equal treatment, see N 117 above). 

  

  Ad hoc publicity is intended to serve the purpose of equal opportunities. However, it cannot guaran-
tee equal results for all market participants. The same data may be presented differently for different 
target audiences, e.g. analysts and financial journalists, provided that all audiences receive the same 
information. This means that analysts can also receive the information intended for journalists and 
vice versa. 
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Art. 7 – Form and distribution 

Art. 7 At the very least, ad hoc 
announcements must be 
formulated in accordance 
with the requirements of 
Art. 53 para. 2bis LR, and 
distributed to the following: 
1. SIX Exchange Regulation 

AG ("SIX Exchange 
Regulation") pursuant to 
Art. 12 et seqq. (90 
minutes ahead of time if 
published during trading 
hours); 

2. at least two electronic 
information systems 
widely used by pro-
fessional market partici-
pants (e.g. Bloomberg, 
Reuters, SIX Financial 
Information); 

3. at least two Swiss media 
(printed or electronic) of 
national importance; 

4. all interested parties 
upon request (Art. 8 
below). 

Ad hoc announcements must be formulated in accordance with the requirements of Art. 53 LR (see 
N 22 et seqq. above). The DAH merely stipulates minimum requirements for the distribution of an-
nouncements. All recipients mentioned in Art. 7 DAH must be informed at the same time (see N 134, 
153 and 159 below). SER recommends distributing ad hoc announcements as broadly as possible. 
Situations in which the publication of an ad hoc announcement is necessary during critical trading 
hours constitute a special case. In such situations, SER must be notified as early as possible, but no 
later than 90 minutes prior to the scheduled time of publication (Art. 12 DAH, Appendix 2 of the 
Guideline and N 160 et seqq. below). 

  

 Trading times on SIX and SDX (see also Art. 11 DAH) can be found in the “Trading Parameters” guide-
line on the websites of the exchanges. 

  

 Ad hoc announcements must be sent to the prescribed recipients (which include SER) at the same 
time, although minimal delays in sending e-mails to different recipients due to technical factors are 
permissible (see Art. 7 and Art. 12 et seq. DAH). This also applies to anyone who registered them-
selves for the issuer’s e-mail distribution list (push service, see Art. 8 DAH). Ad hoc announcements 
and financial reports must also be posted on an issuer’s website at the same time as they are sent 
out (see Art. 9 DAH, N 146 et seqq. below). 

  

 An issuer complies with its distribution obligations when it informs the stated recipients (see Art. 7 et 
seqq. DAH). Art. 53 LR does not require ad hoc announcements to be processed and forwarded by 
these recipients (in particular Swiss media), since this is not something the issuer can influence. 

  

 SER does not distribute or publish any ad hoc announcements provided by issuers (see Art. 13 DAH).   

 Electronic information systems: With regard to the requirement for sending ad hoc announcements 
to at least two electronic information systems that are widely used by professional market partici-
pants (e.g. Bloomberg, Reuters or SIX Financial Information), it must be borne in mind that a financial 
news agency (e.g. AWP Finanznachrichten) is not regarded as an electronic information system. 
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  Swiss media: The ad hoc announcement must be sent to two Swiss media (printed or electronic) of 
national importance. The language in which the medium is published is immaterial. It is not sufficient 
to send the ad hoc announcement to a free newspaper or to the Swiss Official Gazette of Commerce 
(SOGC) (Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 19 November 2007 margin number 2 
[SaKo/AhP/III/07]). 
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Art. 8 – E-mail distribution 

Art. 8 
para. 1 

The issuer must provide a 
service on its Website that 
allows interested parties to 
receive, via e-mail distri-
bution, free and timely 
notification of ad hoc an-
nouncements (push system). 

Issuers must set up a push system (Decision of the Disciplinary Commission dated 8 June 2006 margin 
number 5 [DK/RLE/VII/05]). 

  

 It is not necessary for the issuer to provide two different e-mail distribution lists, one for ad hoc an-
nouncements and one for other press releases. Pursuant to art. 53 para. 2bis LR, announcements with 
price-sensitive content must be marked “Ad hoc announcement pursuant to art. 53 LR” (see N 27 et 
seqq. above). 

  

 Issuers are free to commission third parties to provide a functionally equivalent digital system, pro-
vided it can be accessed by all interested parties easily, free of charge and without proof of interest. 
The issuer remains responsible for proper compliance and distribution (see N 152 et seqq. below).  

  

  If for reasons of extreme urgency, an ad hoc announcement is initially published in only one of the 
languages stipulated in Art. 14 DAH, with further language versions only being published later, the 
first language version must be sent to all recipients of the push service to ensure equal treatment 
(Art. 53 para. 3 LR, Art. 6 DAH). With regard to issuers posting ad hoc announcements on their web-
site as required by Art. 9 DAH, see N 146 et seqq. below. 

  

  In such cases, the first language version of the ad hoc announcement must also be made available 
in the directory containing the ad hoc announcements of the issuer’s website independently of the 
language version (see Art. 9 DAH). When the ad hoc announcement is subsequently published in 
other languages, the website can be updated accordingly. The languages are listed in Art. 14 DAH. 

  

Art. 8 
para. 2 

The link for registering with 
this e-mail distribution 
service must be com-
municated to SIX Exchange 
Regulation. It will be 
published on SIX Swiss 
Exchange’s Website. 

SER must be given the direct link to the e-mail distribution service on the issuer’s website within the 
scope of the regular reporting obligations. The same applies when the link is changed. 

  

 Failure to set up a push system or to provide SER with the current path to the e-mail distribution 
service constitutes a violation of Art. 8 DAH (Decision of the Disciplinary Commission dated 8 June 2006 
margin number 5 [DK/RLE/VII/05]). 
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Art. 9 - Issuer’s Website 

Art. 9 
para. 1  

Simultaneously to the 
distribution in accordance 
with Art. 7, each ad hoc 
announcement has to be 
uploaded on the issuer’s 
website in an easy to find 
directory in chronological 
order indicating the date of 
distribution.. An appropriate 
reference must be made to 
the classification of the 
announcement as an 
“Ad hoc announcement 
pursuant to Art. 53 LR”. All 
ad hoc announcements 
must be made available at 
this location for a period of 
three years (pull system). 

Issuers must set up a pull system (Decision of the Disciplinary Commission dated 8 June 2006 margin 
number 5 [DK/RLE/VII/05]). 

  

 Ad hoc announcements pursuant to Art. 9 para. 1 DAH must be posted in a corresponding directory 
on the issuer’s website. The directory must be easy to find on the issuer’s website. Each published 
ad hoc announcement must be made available in the directory along with the date of distribution in 
chronological order. The ad hoc announcement uploaded on the directory has to be identical with 
the ad hoc announcement which has been distributed to all addressees in accordance with Art. 7 et 
seqq. DAH. The reproduction of the mere text without the flagging as ad hoc announcement pursu-
ant to 53 LR does not meet the requirements of Art. 53 para. 2bis LR. Same applies for the situation 
where there is a note in the body text stating that the complete ad hoc announcement can be down-
loaded somewhere else or for the situation where an PDF containing the complete ad hoc announce-
ment is uploaded in addition to the body text. The directory may also include other announcements 
not classified as ad hoc, provided there is an option to display only ad hoc announcements using a 
filter function. When ad hoc announcements are published in the directory, appropriate reference 
must be made to their classification as “Ad hoc announcements pursuant to Art. 53 LR” or, alterna-
tively, to the filter function (Issuers Committee Circular No. 1 of 30 April 2021 margin number 14 [IC-C1]). 

  

 Each ad hoc announcement must be available in the directory for ad hoc announcements for three 
years after the publication. SER must be informed of any change in the link (URL path) for the direc-
tory with the ad hoc announcements (pull system according to Art. 9 DAH) under the DRRO. 
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  If the issuer’s website is available in more than one language version, all ad hoc announcements 
must be available in every language version of the website. Third parties cannot be expected to con-
sult and compare all language versions. If an ad hoc announcement is not published in all language 
versions of the website, the ad hoc announcement must be posted on these versions in one of its 
published different languages (see Art. 14 DAH for the languages of ad hoc announcements). If an 
ad hoc announcement is initially published in just one language for reasons of urgency, this version 
must be available in all language versions of the directory of ad hoc announcements. When the 
ad hoc announcement is subsequently posted in other languages, the (sub)pages of the website can 
be updated accordingly. For further information on the push system under Art. 8 DAH in this case, 
see N 139 et seqq. above. 

  

Art. 9 
para. 2 

SIX Exchange Regulation 
must be informed of the 
corresponding URL path to 
the directory with the ad hoc 
announcements. It will be 
published on SIX Swiss 
Exchange’s Website. 

SER must be given the direct link to the page containing an issuer’s ad hoc announcements and in-
formed every time the link is changed via the regular reporting obligations. Failure to set up a pull 
system or to provide SER with the current path to the directory of ad hoc announcements constitutes 
a violation of Art. 9 DAH (Decision of the Disciplinary Commission dated 8 June 2006 margin number 5 
[DK/RLE/VII/05] and Decision of the Committee of the Admission Board dated 23 January 2007 margin 
number 28 et seqq. [ZUL/AhP/IV/06]). 

  

 All ad hoc announcements must be posted in the directory required by Art. 9 DAH. It is not sufficient 
to post them somewhere on the issuer’s website (Decision of the Committee of the Admission Board 
dated 23 January 2007 margin number 28 et seqq. [ZUL/AhP/IV/06] and Decision of the Sanctions Commis-
sion dated 30 July 2007 margin number 7 [SaKo/AhP/II/07]). 
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Art. 10 – Responsibility 

Art. 10 
para. 1 

The issuer may decide at its 
own discretion whether to 
fulfil its disclosure obli-
gations itself within the 
context of ad hoc publicity or 
instruct a third party to do 
so. 

If an issuer has commissioned a third party to distribute ad hoc announcements, it nevertheless 
bears the responsibility for the correct performance of its ad hoc publicity duties towards SER. The 
issuer is also liable for organisational faults on the part of the third party if they lead to a violation of 
the ad hoc publicity duties. In addition, a listed mother company cannot transfer the responsibility 
for the compliance with the ad hoc publicity duties to a subsidiary (Decision of the Sanctions Commis-
sion dated 16 April 2009 margin number 6 [SaKo 2009-AhP/MP-II/08] and Decision of the Sanctions Com-
mission dated 19 November 2007 [SaKo/AhP/III/07]). 

  

Art. 10 
para. 2 

In either case, the issuer is 
responsible for the proper 
fulfilment of its obligations. 
In particular, it must ensure 
simultaneous distribution 
ad hoc announcements to all 
addressees. 

In case of technical problems or other unexpected events, the issuer remains responsible for ensur-
ing that announcements are distributed correctly in line with the ad hoc publicity duties (Case No. 8 
of the practice regarding ad hoc publicity). SER therefore recommends, that issuers take measures 
(“fallback scenario”) to be able to publish ad hoc announcements independently and quickly, if nec-
essary, in order to comply with the ad hoc publicity duties according to the regulations. This recom-
mendation applies irrespective of whether the issuer fulfils its disclosure obligations itself or instructs 
a third party to do so. 

  

  When technical problems or other unexpected events occur, SER must be contacted immediately if 
the publication of the ad hoc announcement in accordance with the rules is not (or no longer) possi-
ble (see Appendix 1 of the Guidelines). SER will discuss the further course of action with the issuer. If 
necessary, trading will be temporarily suspended. 
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Art. 11 – Critical trading hours 

Art. 11 Subject to Art. 12, ad hoc 
announcements are to be 
published outside of the 
critical trading hours, specifi-
cally 
1. no later than 90 minutes 

before the start of 
trading; or 

2. after the close of trading. 

In order to give the market enough time to assess and process price-sensitive information, ad hoc 
announcements are generally to be published outside the critical trading hours. 

  

 The trading hours are available on the website of SIX and SDX in the “Trading Parameters” guideline.   

 Example for trading hours of primary listed equity securities on SIX: 

 

  

  If the ad hoc announcement is published during critical trading hours, trading may be temporarily 
suspended pursuant to Art. 18 et seqq. DAH (Case No. 3 of the practice regarding ad hoc publicity, De-
cision of the Committee of the Admission Board dated 23 March 2005 margin number 17 et seqq. 
[ZULA/AhP/I/05], see also Appendix 2 of the Guidelines). 
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Art. 12 – Distribution to SIX Exchange Regulation 

Art. 12 
para. 1 

Pursuant to Art. 12a, the 
ad hoc announcement must 
be forwarded to SIX 
Exchange Regulation at the 
latest when it is made 
available to the public. 

Issuers are free to go beyond the minimum disclosure requirements stipulated in Art. 53 LR and in 
the DAH and to publish media releases that are not price-sensitive. Such media releases may be 
published at any time. In these cases, SER does not have to be informed beforehand or even at the 
same time. However, if such a media release proves – contrary to the issuer’s expectations – to be 
price-sensitive, failure to publish it in the correct manner may constitute a violation of the rules on 
ad hoc publicity. 

  

Art. 12 
para. 2 

If, in exceptional cases, 
publication of an ad hoc 
announcement during 
trading hours or less than 90 
minutes before the start of 
trading is unavoidable, SIX 
Exchange Regulation must 
be informed by telephone 
immediately, and the ad hoc 
announcement intended for 
publication must be sent to 
SIX Exchange Regulation by 
e-mail no later than 
90 minutes prior to the 
scheduled time of publi-
cation. 

Price-sensitive facts are to be disclosed as soon as the issuer has knowledge of the main points of 
these facts (N 101 et seqq. above). If possible, the information should be published outside of critical 
trading hours. If, in exceptional cases, the disclosure is made during critical trading hours, SER must 
be informed immediately by phone, and at least 90 minutes before disclosure (“90-minutes rule”) so 
that trading in the affected securities can be temporarily suspended if the situation requires it (Art. 18 
et seqq. DAH, Case No. 3 of the practice regarding ad hoc publicity and Decision of the Sanctions Com-
mission dated 30 July 2007 margin number 4 [SaKo/AhP/II/07]). 

  

 SER recommends the following procedure for the disclosure of price-sensitive facts during 
critical trading hours: 
1. Contact SER (Corporate Disclosure Team) via phone 

− Available on +41 58 399 55 05 on trading days between 7.30 a.m. and 5.40 p.m. 
− Description of the fact 

− Price-sensitive fact: statement and explanation 
− Possible suspension of trading: statement and explanation 
− Publication time: always at least 90 minutes after making contact 

2. Authentication and documentation e-mail to SER 
− Immediately after contacting us by phone, an e-mail must be sent to adhoc@six-group.com 

including the following details: 
− Facts: summary 
− Price-sensitive fact: statement and explanation 

  

mailto:adhoc@six-group.com
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− Possible suspension of trading: statement and explanation 
− Publication time: always at least 90 minutes after making contact 

− Draft media release enclosed 
− In case of representation by an authorised third party: signed power of attorney enclosed 

3. Preparing to send a media release 
− Finalisation of the media release 
− Translation of the media release (if required) 
− Preparation and scheduling of dispatch and publication  

4. Sending the media release 
The media release should only be sent after SER has sent an e-mail instructing the issuer to publish 
the media release immediately and has informed the issuer of any suspension of trading required. 

  SER recommends that issuers contact SER as early as possible in order to discuss the course of action 
in the specific individual case (e.g. upcoming AGM). 

  

  Failure to observe to inform SER beforehand when publishing price-sensitive information during crit-
ical trading hours was sanctioned as a violation of the rules on ad hoc publicity in the following cases: 
Case No. 7 of the practice regarding ad hoc publicity, Case No. 8 of the practice regarding ad hoc publicity, 
Decision of the Disciplinary Commission dated 24 March 2005 margin number 4 [DK/AhP/I/05], Decision of 
the Committee of the Admission Board dated 7 January 2005 margin number 22 [ZUL/AhP/IV/04], Decision 
of the Committee of the Admission Board dated 23 March 2005 margin number 18 [ZUL/AhP/I/05], Decision 
of the Committee of the Admission Board dated 23 March 2005 margin number 18 [ZUL/AhP/IV/05], Deci-
sion of the Sanctions Commission dated 30 July 2007 margin number 4 [SaKo/AhP/II/07], Decision of the 
Sanctions Commission dated 19 November 2007 margin number 2 [SaKo/AhP/III/07] and Decision of the 
Sanctions Commission dated 16 April 2009 margin number 6 [SaKo 2009-AhP/MP-II/08]. 
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DAH Article text Information Note 

(N) 

Art. 12a – Form and content of transmission to SIX Exchange Regulation 

Art. 12a 
para. 1 

Issuers of primary-listed 
equity securities must use 
the online platform 
Connexor Reporting for the 
transmission of their ad hoc 
announcements to SIX 
Exchange Regulation. If, 
exceptionally, Connexor 
Reporting is unavailable for 
technical reasons, the issuer 
must use the means listed in 
para. 2 below to transmit 
ad hoc announcements to 
SIX Exchange Regulation. 

Since 1 October 2021, issuers of primary-listed equity securities must exclusively use the online plat-
form “CONNEXOR® Reporting” for the transmission of their ad hoc announcements to SER (Regula-
tory Board Communiqué No. 5/2021 dated 18 August 2021). 

  

 Art. 12a DAH defines the form and content of the transmission to SER.   

 The amendment effective from 1 October 2021 relates exclusively to the transmission of ad hoc an-
nouncements to SER. SER does not publish ad hoc announcements for issuers. Announcements to 
other addressees pursuant to Art. 7 et seqq. DAH must continue to be distributed as before. The 
delivery of ad hoc announcements to all addressees must also continue to take place simultaneously 
(Art. 10 para. 2 DAH) (Regulatory Board Communiqué No. 5/2021 dated 18 August 2021). 

  

 Technically it is not possible to time the execution via Connexor Reporting. However with regard to 
the previous practice, it will still be permissible to transmit ad hoc announcements to SER after the 
close of trading for publications scheduled for the next morning. The principle whereby the issuer 
provides information on price-sensitive facts as soon as it becomes aware of the main points of the 
price-sensitive fact (Art. 53 para. 2 LR in conjunction with Art. 5 DAH) continuous to apply. Further, all 
language versions of the ad hoc announcement need to be transmitted via Connexor Reporting to 
SER. 

  

  Ad hoc announcements transmitted in advance to SER via Connexor Reporting cannot be amended 
afterwards. If an issuer has to replace its ad hoc announcement already transmitted in advance to 
SER via Connexor Reporting, it should submit a new ad hoc announcement to SER via Connexor Re-
porting. When transmitting the new ad hoc announcement to SER, the issuer must make reference 
to this fact in the free text field of the Connexor Reporting transmission screen (“Announcement for 
the attention of SIX Exchange Regulation”). 

  

  The issuer may decide at its own discretion whether to fulfil its disclosure obligations with regard to 
the ad hoc publicity regulation by itself or by instructing a third party to do so (Art. 10 DAH). Connexor 
Reporting offers the option to fulfil the ad hoc publicity obligations by registering employees and/or 
authorised third parties (such as service providers). In either case, however, the issuer is responsible 
for the proper fulfilment of its obligations (Art. 10 para. 2 DAH). 
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Art. 12a 
para. 2 

In the case of derivatives, 
bonds, conversion rights, 
collective investment 
schemes and secondary-
listed equity securities, 
ad hoc announcements 
must be submitted to SIX 
Exchange Regulation by e-
mail. 

   

Art. 12a 
para. 3 

Each transmission of an 
ad hoc announcement must 
contain the following 
information: 
1. name of the issuer; 
2. identity of the reporting 

person (incl. telephone 
number and e-mail 
address for any queries); 

3. date and time of the 
publication; 

4. the ad hoc announce-
ment published in 
accordance to Art. 12 
para. 1 (as a PDF 
document) in all its 
language versions; 

5. confirmation of distri-
bution according to Art. 7 
et seqq. 
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(N) 

Art. 13 – Role of SIX Exchange Regulation 

Art. 13 SIX Exchange Regulation 
uses the announcement 
exclusively for purposes of 
monitoring the market. 

SER does not distribute issuers’ ad hoc announcements neither internally nor externally. SER does 
not publish ad hoc announcements for issuers. Furthermore, SER and SIX do not publish ad hoc an-
nouncements on their website. 
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Art. 14 – Languages 

Art. 14 The ad hoc announcement 
must be written in at least 
one of the following 
languages: German, French 
or English. 

If ad hoc announcements are published in various languages, the content of each language version 
must be the same (see Art. 15 DAH). 

  

 For the purpose of taking due account of the principle of equal treatment (Art. 53 para. 3 LR, Art. 6 
DAH) SER recommends the following: If an ad hoc announcement is published in several languages, 
the different language versions must be sent out at the same time (Art. 7 et seq. DAH). If the issuer’s 
website is available in several languages, the various language versions of ad hoc announcements 
must be posted on the website at the same time (Art. 9 DAH). If exceptionally due to urgency, an 
issuer publishes an ad hoc announcement first in one language and later in other languages, the 
language version sent out first must be sent to all ad hoc recipients (Art. 7 et seq. DAH) and be posted 
on all language versions of the issuer’s website. Afterwards the issuer can post the further language 
versions of the ad hoc announcement on the corresponding versions of its website (N 142 et seq. 
and 149 above). 

  

  In addition to German, French and/or English, ad hoc announcements can also be published in other 
languages. 
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IV. Content of ad hoc announcements  

Art. 15 – Requirements  

Art. 15 
para. 1 

The content of ad hoc 
announcements must be 
formulated in such a way 
that the reasonable market 
participant can form an 
opinion of the extent to 
which the content is price-
sensitive. 

Ad hoc announcements must be worded in such a way that a reasonable market participant can 
recognize the price sensitivity of the announcement. 
 

  

 In the revised Directive on Ad hoc Publicity of 1 July 2021, the term “average market participant” was 
replaced by the term “reasonable market participant”. The reasonable market participant is a rational 
acting person who is familiar with the activity of the issuer and the market of the financial instrument 
in which this person is investing in. This person knows the fundamentals of securities trading, corpo-
rate law and financial market practices but does not need to have any special expertise. However, it 
is necessary to distinguish the reasonable market participant from the “professional investor” (Issuers 
Committee Circular No. 1 of 30 April 2021 margin number 9 [IC-C1]). 

  

Art. 15 
para. 2 

The information contained in 
an ad hoc announcement 
must be factual, clear and 
complete. 

Ad hoc announcements have to, depending on the specific case, disclose the main points (and back-
ground) of the price-sensitive fact(s) in clear and comprehensible language. The price-sensitive fact(s) 
must appear in a prominent position. The principle of truth, clarity and completeness of ad hoc an-
nouncements applies to the entire ad hoc announcement. In particular, it must be ensured that the 
individual components (introduction, title, leads, main text, etc.) are formulated in a consistent man-
ner. 

  

  The principle of truth, clarity and completeness of ad hoc announcements is violated if the ad hoc 
announcement omits key price-sensitive facts (Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 25 March 
2009 margin number 6 [SaKo-RLE II/08, SaKo-AhP I/08]). 

  

  If an issuer informs in stages (N 41, 85 and 114 above), each ad hoc announcement must be true, 
clear and complete. The question as to whether an ad hoc announcement is sufficiently true, clear 
and complete depends on the extent of the issuer’s knowledge at the time the ad hoc announcement 
is published (“ex ante” perspective). 
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  When a profit warning is published, care must be taken to ensure that it is not too general in its 
wording. In one specific case, statements to the effect that the markets were at the time highly vola-
tile and that the turmoil could persist for the entire quarter and might potentially result in sharply 
lower trading income were considered too vague (Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 30 No-
vember 2010 margin number 14 [SaKo 2010-AhP-II/10, SaKo 2010-CG-IV/10]). Ad hoc announcements 
should be worded such that investors can draw specific conclusions regarding the approximate ex-
tent to which the prior guidance will not be met. 

  

  If an ad hoc announcement does not contain all the new and price-sensitive information that can be 
found in another document (e.g. a financial report or presentation), clarity and completeness must 
be ensured either by publishing said document in a separate ad hoc announcement or by attaching 
the full document as a PDF file to an ad hoc announcement (Decision of the Sanctions Commission 
dated 25 March 2009 margin number 6 [SaKo-RLE II/08, SaKo-AhP I/08]). The ad hoc announcement may 
also refer explicitly to the fact that the full document can be found on the issuer’s website. SER rec-
ommends providing either a link to the document on the website or to mention corresponding path. 
It must be clear how the document in question can be found (Decision of the Sanctions Commission 
dated 26 November 2009 margin number 21 [SaKo 2009-AhP II/09], Decision of the Sanctions Commission 
dated 13 August 2013 margin number 7 [SaKo AhP-I-12]). 

  

  Contractual agreements do not in principle release an issuer from its obligation to observe the prin-
ciple of truth, clarity and completeness of ad hoc announcements (N 11 above). 

  

  SER recommends that the content of an ad hoc announcement should clearly indicate who it con-
cerns. It should include the issuer’s trading symbol and Swiss security number (especially if the secu-
rities are traded on more than one exchange). Since 1 July 2021, ad hoc announcements must also 
begin with the classification “Ad hoc announcement pursuant to Art. 53 LR” (“flagging”, see Art. 53 
para. 2bis LR). Apart from the above requirement, issuers are free to choose the layout of their ad hoc 
announcements. 
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  SER recommends the following in the event of a company acquisition or the spin-off of a division: If 
the takeover or spin-off qualifies as price-sensitive, the content of the ad hoc announcement must 
be presented in such a way that a reasonable market participant can make an assessment of the 
impact the takeover or spin-off will have on the issuer’s business operations. If the purchase or sale 
price is not mentioned, it is recommended to disclose other details (e.g. revenues or headcount, area 
of activity, market position and implications for the issuer’s business strategy). In other words, the 
content of the ad hoc announcement must be such that a reasonable market participant is able to 
understand why the transaction is price-sensitive for the issuer. Simply naming the company, its 
domicile and its area of activity is not sufficient for this purpose. 

  

  As the issuer is obligated to structure the ad hoc announcement in such a way that it is clear from 
the announcement why the information is price-sensitive, the non-disclosure of the purchase price 
because of a corresponding contractual agreement can be problematic. In this context it must be 
noted that due to the applicable financial reporting standards, the acquirer might be at least obli-
gated to disclose the price in the financial report. Therefore, at least generally, no convincing reasons 
are apparent why the price cannot already be stated in the ad hoc announcement. 

  

  Decisions where the content of ad hoc announcements was not deemed to comply with the principle 
of truth, clearness and completeness: Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 13 August 2013 mar-
gin number 5 et seqq. [SaKo 2013-AhP-I/12], Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 13 November 
2007 margin number 6 (SaKo/AhP/IV/07), Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 19 November 2007 
margin number 4 (SaKo/AhP/III/07), Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 25 March 2009 margin 
number 7 (SaKo-RLE II/08, SaKo-AhP I/08) and Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 30 November 
2010 margin number 22 (SaKo 2010-AhP-II/10, SaKo 2010-CG-IV/10). 
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Art. 15 
para. 3 

Ad hoc announcements that 
do not fulfil these re-
quirements must be 
corrected immediately by 
the issuer. 

Where an issuer publishes information that is untrue, incomplete or later found to be false in an 
ad hoc announcement, this must be corrected immediately with a further ad hoc announcement. 

  

 SER recommends that in the event of a subsequent amendment to an already published annual or 
interim (semi-annual) report, the report should be published a second time in accordance with the 
rules on ad hoc publicity. In this case, it is recommended that the new version of the report be 
marked “Corrigendum” or distinguished in another clear way and that the new, corrected ad hoc 
announcement should indicate which information has been added, deleted or corrected where it can 
be found (see Art. 15 DAH). This recommendation generally applies to the correction of ad hoc an-
nouncements. 

  

  SER recommends, furthermore, in the interest of transparency, that an erroneous ad hoc announce-
ment be posted alongside the corrected version on the issuer’s website in accordance with Art. 9 DAH 
and that it be kept available there for a period of three years. 
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V. Postponement of disclosure  

Art. 16 – Principle 

Art. 16 
para. 1 

(cancelled)    

Art. 16 
para. 2 

Postponement of disclosure 
is subject to fulfilment of the 
requirements of Art. 54 LR. 

According to Art. 54 LR (postponement of disclosure), an ad hoc announcement (disclosure of a price-
sensitive fact) may be postponed if the following conditions are all met: 

1. The fact is based on a plan or decision from the issuer. 
2. The publication of the fact might prejudice the legitimate interests of the issuer. 
3. Adequate and transparent internal rules or processes are in place to ensure that the price-

sensitive fact remains confidential. 

  

  These conditions must all be met for the entire duration of the postponement.   

  According to Art. 54 para. 2 LR, when making use of a postponement of disclosure, an issuer must 
use adequate and transparent internal rules or processes to ensure that the price-sensitive fact re-
mains confidential for the entire time that disclosure is postponed. In particular, the issuer must take 
organisational measures to ensure that confidential facts are only disclosed to persons who need 
them to perform the tasks assigned to them. In the event of a leak, the market must be informed 
about the fact immediately, in accordance with the provisions of Art. 53 LR. 

  

  In general, the issuer is free to choose the organisational methods and instruments for ensuring 
confidentiality. The issuer is expected to keep its internal rules, processes and measures in line with 
the latest developments and best practice with regard to safeguarding confidentiality and ensure 
that the rules it adopts comply with the relevant standard of a listed company. In maintaining the 
confidentiality of a price-sensitive fact, “best practice” may include: i) limiting the number of people 
who know the information to the smallest possible number (the “need-to-know” principle); ii) limiting 
and safeguarding access to information; iii) confidentiality declarations from all people who know 
the information, both internal and external (e.g. consultants); and iv) maintaining a list of insiders 
(Issuers Committee Circular No. 1 of 30 April 2021 margin number 17 [IC-C1]). 

  



DAH Guideline 
Completely revised version as of 21 March 2022 
Art. 16 – Principle 

 

 

  55/71 
 

Article 
DAH Article text Information Note 

(N) 

  According to the Sanctions Commission, a confidentiality obligation does not necessarily have to be 
in written form, but is also valid verbally. What is essential is that confidentiality is ensured in an 
appropriate manner. However, this does not change the documentation obligation for the issuer, 
including appropriate inclusion in the register for insiders that is usually kept in the case of mergers. 
Without a written declaration, documentation is at least made more difficult (Decision of the Sanctions 
Commission dated 2 August 2019 margin number 34 [SaKo AhP-I/19]). 
SER recommends that the issuer’s internal regulations, processes and measures be recorded in writ-
ing for the purpose of traceability. The same applies to those regulations, processes, measures and 
documents (e.g. confidentiality declarations, insider lists, etc.) that the issuer prepares for a specific 
individual case. In general, issuers should be able to provide information on the implementation and 
application of their internal regulations, processes, measures, etc. 

  

  Merger discussions, in particular those involving experts, represent a typical application of Art. 54 LR 
(Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 2 August 2019 margin number 26 [SaKo AhP-I/19]). 

  

  Postponement is not permissible when an extraordinary event occurs that does not arise from the 
issuer’s own plans or decisions but is in fact contrary to its plans. This applies even when disclosing 
the fact might prejudice the legitimate interests of the issuer (Case No. 2 of the practice regarding 
ad hoc publicity). 

  

  Financial figures are not based on a plan or decision made by the issuer. A postponement of disclo-
sure regarding financial figures is therefore as a rule not possible (see N 211 et seqq. below with 
regard to restructuring). 

  

  It is also not possible to postpone disclosure in the case of a profit collapse or a profit warning. The 
same applies when a member of the board of directors steps down (Case No. 2 of the practice regard-
ing ad hoc publicity, Case No. 4 of the practice regarding ad hoc publicity and Sanction Notice by SIX Ex-
change Regulation dated 22 December 2010 margin number 63 [SER 2010-AhP-I/10, SER 2010-MP-I/10]). 
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  The issuer must weigh up the various interests involved before exercising a postponement of disclo-
sure. It is only permissible to postpone the disclosure of information when the issuer’s legitimate 
interest in doing so outweighs market participants’ interest in obtaining the information (Sanction 
Notice by SIX Exchange Regulation dated 22 December 2010 margin number 37 [SER 2010-AhP-I/10, SER 
2010-MP-I/10]). 

  

  Restructuring, for example, may represent a legitimate interest in postponing disclosure (Case No. 5 
of the practice regarding ad hoc publicity). 

  

  If an issuer’s has an overriding legitimate interest and the disclosure postponed, the issuer must 
continually check whether its interests still take precedence. If this is no longer the case, the issuer 
must publish the postponed ad hoc announcement. 

  

  The fact that an issuer has announced in advance that it will publish an ad hoc announcement on a 
specific date is in principle not sufficient to justify the postponement of the publication of a price-
sensitive fact (Case No. 4 of the practice regarding ad hoc publicity). 

  

  The wish of an issuer to announce the departure of its CFO at a later date together with the appoint-
ment of his successor does not constitute an overriding legitimate interest for postponing the dis-
closure (Sanction Notice by SIX Exchange Regulation dated 22 December 2010 margin number 38 [SER 
2010-AhP-I/10, SER 2010-MP-I/10]; on the topic of an overriding legitimate interest see also Sanction 
Notice by SIX Exchange Regulation dated 11 October 2013 margin number 38 [SER-AhP-I/13]; on changes 
in key staff, see N 64 and 114 above). 

  

  If two people accidentally become aware of a confidential price-sensitive fact concerning an issuer, 
and the issuer can secure their agreement to maintain its confidentiality quickly after the accident, 
the issuer can assume that confidentiality is still ensured in accordance with Art. 54 LR (Decision of 
the Disciplinary Commission dated 29 June 2005 margin number 5 [DK/AhP/II/05]). In the event of a leak, 
the market must be informed about the fact immediately, in accordance with the provisions of Art. 53 
LR (Art. 54 para. 2 LR). 

  

  In the case of disclosure of price-sensitive facts during the AGM, it is clear that confidentiality is not 
ensured (Sanction Notice by SIX Exchange Regulation dated 22 December 2010 margin number 73 [SER 
2010-AhP-I/10, SER 2010-MP-I/10]). 
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  Postponing disclosure during financial restructuring:   

  SER recommends the following procedure when an issuer is in financial difficulty:   

  1. Identifying the need for financial restructuring:   

  The fact that a company has identified a need for financial restructuring is generally speaking a price-
sensitive fact. A company in need of financial restructuring is in an exceptional situation. To take 
account of this special problem, the postponement of the disclosure seems in principle to be permis-
sible, even if the price-sensitive fact that financial restructuring is needed does not in itself stem from 
a plan or decision of the issuer (Art. 54 para. 1 clause 1 LR and N 45 and 192 above). Since the post-
ponement of the disclosure is particularly sensitive in this case, it is advisable to contact SER at the 
earliest possible stage in such cases. 

  

  The Admission Board decided, by way of an exception, that postponing the disclosure may be of 
great importance to an issuer in a phase of financial restructuring (Decision of the Committee of the 
Admission Board dated 4 September 2006 margin number 17 [ZUL/AhP/II/06]). 

  

  2. Drafting a financial restructuring plan:   

  The fact that a financial restructuring plan is being drawn up is (like the fact that a need for financial 
restructuring has been identified) in principle to be regarded as price-sensitive. However, postponing 
the ad hoc announcement may be beneficial to the company’s recovery. If an issuer that has drawn 
up a financial restructuring plan were to be forced to disclose either the plan itself or the financial 
troubles that made such a plan necessary, there would be a risk that the financial restructuring ef-
forts would become impossible or at least significantly more difficult by the disclosure of the financial 
problems. Here, as ever, the permissibility of postponing the disclosure ceases to apply immediately 
when an information leak occurs and confidentiality can no longer be ensured (Art. 17 DAH). 
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  3. Financial restructuring phase:   

  During its financial restructuring, an issuer must regularly review the prospects of its efforts suc-
ceeding on the operational and financial levels. Only a financial restructuring plan that is likely to 
succeed justifies postponing disclosure in the sense of weighing up the public interest against that 
of the issuer. 

  

  Financial restructuring conducted entirely in secret is scarcely conceivable. The more precisely the 
public is informed about the measures taken at the appropriate time, the more likely those measures 
are to succeed. 

  

  According to a decision made by the Committee of the Admission Board, an issuer was allowed by 
way of an exception to postpone the publication of the fact that a key business partner was in need 
of financial restructuring (Decision of the Committee of the Admission Board dated 4 September 2006 
margin number 20 [ZUL/AhP/II/06]). 

  

  See the diagram in Appendix 4 of this Guideline: permissibility of the postponement of the disclosure 
under Art. 54 LR. 
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Art. 17 – Information leaks 

Art. 17 
para. 1 

Information leaks (“leaks”) 
are situations in which, 
against the issuer’s wishes, 
the confidentiality of a price-
sensitive fact is no longer 
guaranteed. 

If, during the postponement of the disclosure, reports appear in the media on facts that largely 
match the information that is the subject of the postponed disclosure, it must usually be assumed 
that this is the result of an information leak. This is valid in particular if details are reported that 
match the confidential information. In such case this is no longer a mere rumour. An ad hoc an-
nouncement must therefore be published immediately. This also applies if the issuer believes that 
there is no leak, since it is often impossible to determine for certain whether there has been a leak 
and, if so, where the leak has occurred. 

  

  The issuer’s obligation to respond to a leak with an ad hoc announcement applies irrespective of any 
possible negative effects that such an ad hoc announcement may have for the issuer. The applicable 
regulations do not provide for a weighing of interests when a leak occurs (Decision of the Sanctions 
Commission dated 16 March 2015 margin number 16 [SaKo AhP-I/2014]). 

  

  The unjustified disclosure of the relevant price-sensitive fact to a person already constitutes a leak, 
which leads to an immediate disclosure obligation under the rules on ad hoc publicity. The possibility 
of postponing disclosure no longer applies in this case (Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 
2 August 2019 margin number 26 [SaKo AhP-I/19], Decision of the Sanctions Commission dated 16 March 
2015 clause 15 et seq. [SaKo 2014 AhP-I/14]). 

  

  If a member of the board of directors shares a price-sensitive fact that was confidential until then 
with a newspaper, or if such a fact is picked up by an electronic information system, a leak has oc-
curred. The issuer must thus publish the information in an ad hoc announcement immediately (Deci-
sion of the Sanctions Commission dated 19 November 2007 margin number 5 [SaKo/AhP/III/07]; see also 
Art. 17 para. 2 DAH). 

  

  The greater the number of people who have knowledge of a price-sensitive fact and the longer the 
postponement, the greater the danger of a leak (Case No. 3 of the practice regarding ad hoc publicity, 
Decision of the Committee of the Admission Board dated 1 November 2004 margin number 17 
[ZUL/AhP/III/04], Decision of the Disciplinary Commission dated 29 June 2005 margin number 9 
[DK/AhP/II/05]). 
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  SER recommends that price-sensitive facts be entrusted only to persons who absolutely need them 
in order to perform their tasks (“need to know” principle). This must be decided separately in each 
individual case. In practice, experience has shown that even making people sign confidentiality 
agreements does not always prevent leaks. 

  

  When external experts are also involved in communication matters – which is permissible and often 
indispensable – only those persons are to be involved whose services are necessary for implementa-
tion of the transaction (“need to know” principle). Due to their independence, journalists who act 
autonomously or are employed by a media company do not count as external experts whom an is-
suer may call upon for support. The selective disclosure of price-sensitive facts to media representa-
tives, whose main role is precisely to pass on information to the public, inevitably means that the 
confidentiality of the information is no longer maintained to the required extent (Decision of the Sanc-
tions Commission dated 2 August 2019 margin number 27 [SaKo AhP-I/19]). 
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Art. 17 
para. 2 

If a leak occurs, the price-
sensitive fact must be 
disclosed immediately in 
accordance with the 
provisions of Art. 53 LR, even 
if publication was scheduled 
for later. If the leak occurs 
during critical trading hours 
in accordance with Art. 11, 
SIX Exchange Regulation: 
1. must be notified 

immediately by tele-
phone before the ad hoc 
announcement is distri-
buted and 

2. is to be sent the ad hoc 
announcement intended 
for distribution by e-mail 
before publication. 

Issuers must take precautions to ensure that they can release information immediately when a leak 
occurs. SER recommends that, with a view to protecting the confidentiality of price-sensitive facts, 
issuers draw up an emergency communication concept which includes, in particular, clear decision-
making powers and, as far as possible, drafts of pre-formulated ad hoc announcements. It is advisa-
ble in the case of legitimate postponement of disclosure to keep a regularly updated ad hoc an-
nouncement on hand and to monitor the market for rumours and leaks in order to be able to comply 
with the obligation to disclose the price-sensitive facts as quickly as possible. Issuers that make no 
preparations for immediately publishing an ad hoc announcement when delaying disclosure are 
generally unable to publish the announcement immediately as required (Case No. 5 of the practice 
regarding ad hoc publicity; Decision of the Disciplinary Commission dated 30 July 2004 margin number 11 
[DK/AhP/I/04], Decision of the Disciplinary Commission dated 29 June 2005 margin number 9 
[DK/AhP/II/05] and Decision of the Committee of the Admission Board dated 4 September 2006 margin 
number 21 [ZUL/AhP/II/06]). 

  

 In case of identifying the leak during critical trading hours SER must be informed immediately by 
telephone in each case (see Appendix 1 of the Guideline), regardless of whether the issuer has put 
measures in place to prevent the leak from spreading. Issuers must provide information by tele-
phone as soon as signs of a leak are identified. This enables SER to decide whether trading has to be 
suspended (Art. 18 et seqq. DAH; N 154 above, N 229 et seqq. below). 
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Article 
DAH Article text Information Note 

(N) 

VI. Suspension of trading 

Art. 18 – Purpose  

Art. 18 Suspension of trading may 
be imposed in exceptional 
circumstances where other-
wise orderly and fair trading 
cannot be guaranteed. 

Ad hoc announcements are generally to be published outside the critical trading hours (Art. 11 DAH, 
N 155 et seq. above). In exceptional cases, an ad hoc announcement may be published during trad-
ing hours or less than 90 minutes before the start of trading (Art. 12 para. 2 DAH). Suspending trad-
ing serves to ensure fair and orderly trading. Trading may be suspended, for instance, when the 
exchange considers that market participants need time to process relatively complex or detailed in-
formation. 

  

  In order for SER to be able to reach the issuer’s contact person(s) for ad hoc publicity without delay 
in the event of a possible suspension of trading, it is essential that the issuer reports the contact 
details to SER (see DRRO). SER recommends that several persons be reported as contact persons for 
ad hoc publicity. In this way, it can be ensured that SER can contact an employee or representative 
of the issuer who is responsible for this regulatory area when an urgent situation occurs. If only one 
contact person is reported, it must be ensured that a deputy is designated for the event that the 
contact person is prevented from performing his or her duties. The issuer must ensure that this po-
sition is filled at all times. 

  

  SER does not publish media releases concerning the reasons behind a suspension of trading, nor 
does it provide information on such reasons to third parties such as journalists or analysts. Issuers 
themselves are of course free to inform the public as to why trading has been suspended. 
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Article 
DAH Article text Information Note 

(N) 

Art. 19 – Upon request by the issuer 

Art. 19 
para. 1 

If an issuer considers the 
suspension of trading to be 
necessary, it must apply to 
SIX Exchange Regulation by 
telephone, stating its 
reasons, as early as possible 
and no later than 90 minutes 
before the intended sus-
pension. 

The correspondence address of SER can be found in Appendix 1 of this Guideline (telephone: +41 58 
399 55 05; e-mail: adhoc@six-group.com). 

  

Art. 19 
para. 2 

SIX Exchange Regulation 
decides at its own discretion 
on whether or not 
suspension of trading 
should be granted and, if so, 
how long it should last. 

   

Art. 19 
para. 3 

In the event that SIX 
Exchange Regulation denies 
suspension of trading, the 
issuer must disclose the 
price-sensitive fact by means 
of an ad hoc announcement 
as follows: 
1. no later than 90 minutes 

before the start of 
trading; or 

2. after the close of trading. 
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Article 
DAH Article text Information Note 

(N) 

Art. 20 – Without request by the issuer 

Art. 20 SIX Exchange Regulation 
may suspend trading at its 
own discretion and without 
request by the issuer if it 
considers this step 
necessary to maintaining 
orderly trading. 
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Article 
DAH Article text Information Note 

(N) 

VII. Sanctions 

Art. 21 – Imposing sanctions 

Art. 21 
para. 1 

SIX Exchange Regulation 
may impose sanctions if the 
issuer fails to comply with 
the provisions of the Listing 
Rules and this Directive. 

Legally valid sanction decisions and sanction notices are posted on the SER website in anonymised 
form. 

  

Art. 21 
para. 2 

Applicable in this regard are 
the corresponding provisi-
ons of Title V of the Listing 
Rules. 
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Article 
DAH Article text Information Note 

(N) 

VIII. Final provision 

Art. 22 – Entry into force 

Art. 22 This Directive shall enter into 
force on 1 July 2009 and 
replaces the Directive on 
Ad hoc Publicity of 29 March 
2006. 
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Article 
DAH Article text Information Note 

(N) 

Art. 23 – Revision 

Art. 23 
para. 1 

The revision of Art. 7 that 
was decreed by the Issuers 
Committee in its resolution 
dated 20 March 2018 enters 
into force on 1 May 2018. 

   

Art. 23 
para. 2 

The revision of Art. 1, 3, 4, 5, 
6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 15, 
16, 17, 19, 20 and 21 that was 
decreed by the Issuers 
Committee in its resolution 
of 17 December 2020 enters 
into force on 1 July 2021. 

   

Art. 23 
para. 3 

The revision of Art. 7 and 12 
and the enactment of 
Art. 12a that was decreed by 
the Issuers Committee in its 
resolution of 10 March 2021 
enters into force on 
1 October 2021. 
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Appendix 
Appendix 1 – Contact 
 
SIX Exchange Regulation AG 
Hardturmstrasse 201 
P.O. Box 
CH-8021 Zurich 
 
Telephone +41 58 399 55 05 
E-mail  adhoc@six-group.com 
 
For further information: www.ser-ag.com 
  

http://www.ser-ag.com/
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Appendix 2 – Publication of ad hoc announcements: timing 
 
Exanple for primary listed equity securities on SIX: 
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Appendix 3 - Price-sensitive fact 
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